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The Group’s main activities 
 •The ownership, development, 

operation and management  
of hydropower plants 

• The sale of power on the 
wholesale market

• Business development in  
energy and related fields

The Group’s main activities are 
the operation and maintenance 
of power plants, including the 
optimal utilisation of reser
voirs to maximise returns from 
hydropower production. The 
Group’s other activities in 2012 
consisted of business develop
ment and new power develop
ment, as well as joint ownership 
of other power companies. The 
Group owns stakes in Oppland  
Energi AS (61.4 per cent), Vinstra 
Kraftselskap DA (66.7 per cent), 
Opplandskraft DA (25 per cent),  
Embretsfosskraftverkene DA  
(50 per cent) and Norsk Grønn
kraft AS (25 per cent). 

Performance
Good access to ample resources 
led to recordhigh production 
in Norway and Sweden alike in 
2012. This resulted in pressure 
on power prices. The average 
monthly price noted in ECO 
Energi’s price area (NO1) was 
the lowest since 2007. Howev
er, combined with substantially 
higher production, successful 
production planning and hedging 
helped curb the decline in oper
ating revenue from 2011 to 2012. 

Revenues aggregated MNOK 
3 251, down MNOK 263 from 
2011. The 2012 operating profit 
came to MNOK 2 175, a decline 
of MNOK 275 from the previous 
year. Earnings before tax totalled 
MNOK 1 900, down MNOK 271 
from 2011. ECO Energi posted 
a net profit for the year of MNOK 
910, compared with MNOK 943 
in 2011. The Board proposes that 
MNOK 750 be paid out in divi
dends for 2012.

Prices
The average spot price for  
electricity for Oslo (NO1) in 2012 
was 0.221 NOK/kWh, which was 
0.141 kWh lower than in 2011. 
ECO Energi obtained an average  
selling price in 2012 of 0.30 
NOK/kWh, which was 36 per 
cent higher than the area price. 

Production
The Group’s annual production  
in 2012 amounted to 10 779 GWh, 
up about 990 GWh from 2011.

Investments
The Group invested MNOK 272 
in fixed assets in 2012. The 
most important ongoing projects 

are the new power plant at 
Embrets foss (ECO Energi owns 
50 per cent), which is sched
uled for completion in Q1 2013, 
and the renovation of Rendalen 
Power Plant (ECO Energi owns 
40 per cent), also scheduled 
for completion in Q1 2013. The 
upgrade of the last of a total of 
four units at the Hol 1 power 
station was completed in 2012.

The Mork Power Plant in Lærdal 
was granted a licence in 2012. 
Construction is expected to 
commence in 2014. The power 
plant will subsequently produce 
roughly 95 GWh, of which ECO 
Energi’s share will be some  
60 GWh. 

ECO Energi has stakes in three 
power plants that are currently 
in the licensing process: Rosten 
Power Plant in Gudbrandsdalen, 
Nedre Otta in Sel and Vågå 
municipalities, and the Tolga 
Power Plant in the Østerdalen 
Valley. ECO Energi’s share of 
the estimated power production 
at these power plants will be 
roughly 215 GWh.
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Key figures

 2012 2011 2010

Performance

Operating revenue  3 251  3 514  4 076 

EBITA  2 175  2 450  3 103 

Profit before taxes  1 900  2 171  2 811 

Profit for the year  910  943  1 200 

caPital structure

Total assets  16 266  16 088  17 859 

Subord. loan, Oslo Municipality  3 347  3 347  3 347 

Equity  5 964  5 804  5 661 

Cash and cash equivalents  712  539  2 202 

Equity ratio 37% 36% 32%

Net interestbearing debt (excl. subord. loan)  3 655  3 454  1 071 

Dividends 750 800  2 800 

Return on equity 1 15% 16% 19%

Return on total assets 2 14% 15% 18%

cash flow 

Cash flow from operating activities  895  734  2 198 

EBITDA 3  2 425  2 735  3 384 

EBITDA margin 75% 78% 83%

other

Number of employees  172 170  159 

Power production (GWh) 4  10 779  9 789 9183

1    Net profit/average equity
2    Earnings before taxes + financial expenses/average total assets
3    EBIT + depreciation/Operating revenue
4     Production less share of production by associates

OPERATING REVENUE AND EBITDA
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* In 2010, an extraordinary dividend of MNOK 2 000 was paid out, i.e. 
   MNOK 1 600 more than the year's added value.
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To be a leading hydropower producer 
– competent and creative 

We InTend To
• maximise value creation and provide high, stable investment performance
• be an attractive employer, with an inclusive working environment
• apply sound business practices in all our operations

Vision
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Values

Commitment, Integrity and Creativity
CommITmenT
We aspire to have a working environment that inspires commitment, job satisfaction and a sense of 
wellbeing. We value cooperation, communication and knowledge sharing.

InTeGrITy
We will behave with respect and accountability in all contexts. 
We value quality, honesty and confidence.

CreaTIvITy
We will focus on improvement and revitalisation to sustain a high level of expertise, quality and  
added value. We value initiative, energy and boldness.
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Report of the President and Chief Executive Officer

1 January 2012 marked the kick- off for the 
NorwegianSwedish elcertificate market. 
ECO Energi spent time in 2012 preparing 
for several development projects scheduled 
to be implemented under the new subsidi
sation regime. Late in the year, the Mork 
Power Plant in Lærdal Municipality was 
finally licenced by the Ministry of Petroleum 
and Energy; the upgrade at  Rendalen in 
Hedmark County and the enlargement of 
Embretsfoss in the Drammen watercourse 
progressed well during the year and both 
projects are expected to be completed at 
midyear 2013; licence applications have 
been compiled for the Hallifossen, Hemsil 3 
and Hol 1 Stolsvatn projects in Hallingdal; 
in December, upgrading was completed on 
the last of a total of four generators in Hol 1. 
All these projects will qualify for elcertificates. 

Parallel to the development of these large 
scale projects, the Group is engaged in a 
variety of smaller scale but important 
projects. For example, ECO Energi earned 
its first elcertificate for upgrading a 
transformer in the Hemsil 2 power station, 
and a small pumping storage power station 
in Aurland is being built inside the mountain, 
making it possible to make more efficient 
use of the water resources in Aurland 2. 
While these projects do not always receive 
much attention, they do showcase the 
importance and talent of our employees.

In 2012, ECO Energi experienced its first 
serious accident in 33 years. The incident 
demonstrated with the utmost clarity how 
vital HSE work is. The elcertificate scheme 
will provide incentives for a great deal of 
building and construction in the energy 

sector in the years ahead under the auspices 
of ECO Energi as well as other companies. 
Stepping up the pace of construction means 
that our employees and those who work for 
our contractors and vendors will be doing 
jobs that entail risks. The industry must be 
aware of its responsibilities in connection 
with all the development projects currently 
being initiated. As a leading power producer, 
ECO Energi accepts this responsibility.  
We have always taken HSE work seriously, 
and we will continue to do so. We set strict 
health, safety and environmental standards 
for ourselves and for all those with whom 
we collaborate. Nothing is more important 
than the people who are involved in our 
business activities! 

The elcertificate system also poses another 
challenge. A subsidised project to develop 
26.4 TWh of new power in a market that is 
in balance will inevitably lead to an energy 
glut. We must see to it that this power will 
be used. The electrification of new offshore 
installations is one possibility, and the 
electrification of the transport sector is 
another. At the same time, we must offer 
the industry competitive terms so that we 
can continue to create value by exporting 
power through refined metals and by 
developing valuable industrial jobs. 
Exchanging more power with other countries 
will better equip us to cope with new power 
production that cannot be regulated, to 
produce renewable hydropower to supersede 
fossil fuel production on the Continent, and 
to improve the reliability of the energy 
supply in dry years. For that reason, ECO 
Energi has got involved in the NorthConnect 
project, which is aimed at establishing the 

first cable hookup between the British and 
the Nordic power markets.

In all of ECO Energi’s exciting projects, our 
dedicated and talented coworkers do their 
best every single day to help us attain the 
goals we have set. I would like to thank 
each and every employee for his or her 
dedicated efforts during the year under 
review. These efforts mean that I am on 
safe ground when I say that we are well 
underway on the road to developing new 
renewable energy.

tore olaf rimmereid 
President and CEO

We are well underway
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New power
in recent years, e-co energi has participated in power 
 development projects that have resulted in 700 Gwh of new 
power production. we have plans for the development of 
 another 1000 Gwh through new projects. this corresponds  
to the energy consumption of 50 000 households.

This will be achieved by upgrading and expanding current facili
ties, through new development projects and by building micro 
power plants. ECO Energi will be in charge of some of the pro
jects itself, both in existing regulations and in new areas.  

Others will be carried out in conjunction with other companies  
or through jointlyowned companies such as Opplandskraft,  
Oppland Energi, Vinstra kraftselskap, Embretsfosskraftverkene 
and Norsk Grønnkraft. Collectively, we have more than 60 projects 
under development. If all of them were brought to fruition, power 
production would be increased by more than 3000 GWh.

Please see www.e-co.no/nykraft 
for further information about the individual projects.

1 000 new Gwh: e-co energi’s development projects are mainly concentrated in three areas: sogn, hallingdal and “inland”.

Inland

HallInGdal

SoGn

205 GWh / 86 mW

387 GWh / 95 mW

nedre otta rendalen

40 GWh / 110 mW

92 GWh / 37 mW

25-40 GWh / 400 mW

85 GWh / 150 mW

7 GWh / 3 mW

100 GWh / 85 mW

120 GWh / 50 mW

mork

aurland I og II

Brekkefoss

Hol i Stolsvann

Hemsil III

north Connect

embretsfoss

rosten

Tolga

190 GWh / 41 mW



8 E-CO Energi  //  Annual Report 2012 Company structure

Company structure

e-co enerGi
ECO ENERGI 100%

Vinstra 
kraftselskaP 

ECO 66,7%

oslo lysVerker 
ECO 100%

oPPland enerGi
ECO 61,4%

e-co enerGi holdinG
OSLO MUNICIPALITy 100%

oPPlandskraft 
OSLO LySVERKER 25%
OPPLAND ENERGI 25%

embretsfosskraftVerkene 
ECO 50%

norsk Grønnkraft 
ECO 25%

øVre otta 
OPPLANDSKRAFT 79%
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ECO Energi is one of Norway’s leading en
ergy groups. ECO’s core activities are the 
ownership, operation and development of 
hydroelectric plants, as well as business 
development. The parent company’s main 
duties are strategy development, financial 
affairs, accounting and information. The 
Group is Norway’s second largest hydropow

er producer, with a mean production of 9.7 
TWh per year. It satisfies the energy require
ments of approximately 500 000 households. 
ECO’s production capacity is roughly 2 800 
MW.

ECO Energi Holding AS is owned by Oslo 
Municipality. The other operations are or

ganised under the auspices of ECO Energi 
and Oslo Lysverker. 

ECO Energi has about 170 employees. 

ECO Energi is represented throughout 
southern Norway.

RESERVOIR FILLING RATIO  
(%) 

ExPLOITED INFLOW 

(GWh/week) 

SPOT PRICE FOR ELECTRICITy OSLO  
(NOK/MWh) 
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E-CO Main Office

9

 e-co
 E-CO Energi Holding owns  

100 per cent of E-CO Energi 
that owns 100 per cent in  
Oslo Lysverker.

 oppland energi,  
opplands kraft, øvre otta, 
Vinstra kraftselskap

 Eidsiva Vannkraft has the 
 operation and maintenance  
of the power plants in  
Oppland Energi  (E-CO 61.4%), 
Opplands kraft (E-CO 40%), 
Øvre Otta (E-CO 32%) og 
 Vinstra Kraftselskap (E-CO 
66.7%)

 norsk Grønnkraft
 E-CO owns 25%

 uvdal i og ii
 E-CO owns 10%

 embretsfosskraftverkene 
 E-CO owns 50%

Source of map: Norwegian Mapping Authority



10 E-CO Energi  //  Annual Report 2012

Local sourcing of 
services
 
A largescale business like 
ECO buys significant 
volumes of goods and 
services locally. One example 
is the service enterprise 
Vibe. Vibe provides canteen 
management and cleaning 
services for the power 
stations and office buildings 
in Aurland, Gol and Hol.  
In 2012, ECO purchased 
services from the company 
that added up to about 
MNOK 3.

Corporate Social Responsibility at E-CO Energi

HydroPoWer and SoCIeTy 
ECO Energi manages one of our most precious 
environmentfriendly resources: hydropower.  
Clean renewable hydropower does not burden the 
environment the way fossil fuels do. Consequently, 
the development and upgrading of hydropower plants 
reduces the demand for nonrenewable energy 
resources. Were ECO Energi’s pollutionfree 
hydropower production in 2012 to be replaced by 
fossilfuelled energy, emissions would increase by 
5.7 million metric tonnes of CO2, i.e. the equivalent of 
the emissions produced by two million cars in a year.

Norway has a long history of hydropower 
development. When new hydropower projects are 
developed today, we are building on more than 
100 years of expertise. One of the goals of these 
efforts is for all operations and development to  
be carried out in the most gentle, sustainable 
manner possible. Simply put, we are getting more 
energy out of every drop of water.

Code of eTHICS
ECO Energi’s core values, Commitment, Integrity 
and Creativity, are key aspects of the Group’s 
work with corporate social responsibility. These 
values serve as guidelines for how the Group and 
its employees are supposed to act in respect of 
important stakeholders such as suppliers, 
partners and local communities. 

The Group’s Code of Ethics paves the way for our 
commitment and contribution to the community. 
The ethical guidelines also describe how our 
employees are to act and conduct themselves in 
situations involving gifts or other perks. 

THe WorkInG envIronmenT and HSe
Our employees are our most important resource. To 
ensure employees’ safety and career development, 
we are proactive in promoting HSE, job satisfaction, 
human resources development, codetermination 
and social welfare. As an IWLenterprise (Inclusive 
Working Life), ECO Energi strives to ensure that 
everyone can contribute insofar as possible.

ECO Energi regularly conducts surveys regarding 
the working environment, job satisfaction and 
absence due to illness. Our goals are to have no 

injuries and less than four per cent absence due to 
illness during the year. In 2012, we had five injuries 
with lost working days and our rate of absence due 
to illness was 2.9 per cent.

value CreaTIon 
ECO Energi’s operations generate value for internal 
and external players. The owner receives dividends, 
employees receive wages and the local and national 
authorities receive direct and indirect taxes. 

In the 2012 fiscal year, ECO Energi contributed 
MNOK 387 to its host municipalities. These 
contributions came in the form of natural resources 
and property taxes, licence fees and concessionary 
power. The three largest recipients were Aurland, 
Hol, and Ål municipalities. They received MNOK 99, 
79 and 36, respectively, in direct and indirect taxes.

ECO Energi also contributes indirectly to local 
value creation in the municipalities in which the 
power is generated. The Group operates, develops 
and maintains existing and new facilities. Energy 
production creates added value through the 
acquisition of goods and services from local 
suppliers and partners. 

ECO Energi tries to use local service providers 
and partners where this is feasible. Having a short 
path from supplier to plant translates into savings 
for the environment and local infrastructure, in 
addition to providing secure local jobs. 

Altogether, the Group paid NOK 1.3 billion in 
direct and indirect taxes in 2012.

envIronmenTal reSPonSIBIlITy 
ECO Energi is goal and resultoriented with a view 
to its environmental responsibility, as documented in 
the annual Environmental Report. The description 
below is excerpted from that report. 

Environmental responsibility is a crucial, integral 
part of core activities for forwardthinking 
businesses in the energy sector. For ECO Energi, 
this consists of environmentfriendly operations, 
and the development and production of clean, 
renewable hydropower. 

corporate social responsibility at e-co energi is based on three pillars: value creation, a clean environment 
and social commitment. the Group has incorporated into and anchored our corporate social responsibility 
in the Group’s strategy, values and goals. 

the purpose of this work and of reporting on corporate social responsibility is to show how the e-co energi 
promotes sustainability for the economy, the environment and the community. e-co energi depends on 
maintaining good relations with its stakeholders, so the Group cooperates closely with industry, municipalities 
and local communities. the Group’s business activities help safeguard jobs, secure access to clean energy 
and boost value creation.

Inger Marie Hjellum runs the 
canteen in Aurland for ECO.

Corporate Social Responsibility
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For hydropower producers, the greatest environ
mental challenges are linked to construction, noise, 
landscape modification and habitat/bio diversity 
changes in affected watercourses and lakes. 

ECO Energi’s Environmental Report contains a set of 
indicators that measures the Group’s impact on the 
outdoor environment. The knowledge acquired by the 
Group through working with the environmental 
indicators is used actively to minimise our environ
mental footprint. Knowledge about ECO Energi’s 
footprint on the environment is used actively in 
connection with our risk management and internal 
control. Risk management efforts have resulted in a 
system for identifying and minimising our environ
mental challenges. In 2011, an environmental 
coordinator was hired to follow up the Group’s 
environmental responsibility at the plants. 
  
In 2012, the Group is reporting on our use of fuel 
and on waste treatment, as well as disclosing our 
use of petroleum products and hazardous 
substances. ECO Energi also keeps CO2 accounts 
that cover five categories of emissions. 

ECO Energi treats waste in compliance with all 
applicable rules and regulations. The Group seeks 
solutions for reducing the amount of waste, and for 
improving the percentage of recycling. Metals, 
plastics and packaging are collected and recycled. 

Less internal transport reduced fuel consumption in 
2012. A number of upgrades were completed, 
explaining the increase in the amounts of hazardous 
substances declared. When upgrading older 
installations, ECO Energi has replaced hazardous 
materials with modern, environmentfriendly 
alternatives. Since several projects have been 
completed, the amount of residual and construction 
waste has been reduced. ECO Energi strives to 
recycle and reuse petroleum products. 

ECO Energi carries out landscape and biotope 
adjustment measures where there is a defined need. 
The goal is to use such initiatives to reduce the 
environmental footprint of the facilities and 
production on the outdoor environment. In compli
ance with government orders, trout are stocked in a 
number of mountain lakes. This initiative leads to 
good fishing lakes that are deeply appreciated by 
locals and visitors alike. The Group also participates 
in several research projects to verify whether the 
measures work, and to determine whether it is 
possible to improve conditions for fish through other 
measures, e.g. changing the operating schedule of 
the facilities. 

There have been no reports of nonconformance with 
the licencing terms for 2012. 

SoCIal CommITmenT 
ECO Energi helps create value for local communi
ties by providing jobs, generating revenues for host 

municipalities, creating demand for local goods and 
services and providing a reliable power supply. The 
Group’s business activities benefit society in other 
ways as well.

One byproduct of hydropower development is excess 
rock and gravel. These materials have traditionally 
been deposited in socalled ‘tips’ that remain 
untouched for decades. ECO Energi strives to see to 
it that excess materials can be used locally for road 
construction and cement production. 

ECO Energi provides sponsorship funds for good 
local causes. A donation is made to the Norwegian 
Air Ambulance, which has a helicopter base at Ål in 
Hallingdal. This helps guarantee safe, swift and 
efficient ambulance services for everyone in the 
region. Courses organised under the auspices of the 
Norwegian Air Ambulance also help improve fire 
safety and fire prevention conditions for ECO Energi 
and the rest of the local community. 

In 2012, ECO Energi spent about MNOK 3 on 
sponsorship. Of that amount, about NOK 500 000 
was donated to local sports clubs, associations 
and talent development. The rest was spent on 
good causes run by different organisations 
involved in education, science and charity work. 

At the national level, ECO Energi contributes to 
good causes such as the Knowledge Centre at the 
Norwegian Museum of Science, Technology, 
Industry and Medicine and to the teaching 
programme “Water and Power” for the Oslo 
school system. We also support the work of the 
environmental foundation Zero. 

ECO Energi operates in Norway. Our commitment to 
clean power nonetheless extends far beyond our 
national borders. In rural Afghanistan, we cooperate 
with Church Relief on the development of micro 
power plants. This helps add value locally and 
improves the local community, since diesel 
generators can be replaced by environmentfriendly 
energy. 

CorPoraTe SoCIal reSPonSIBIlITy
ECO Energi’s corporate social responsibility 
efforts are coordinated with the Group’s objectives, 
strategy and core activities. ECO Energi will 
continue to set targets and draw up guidelines for 
corporate social responsibility and it will strive to 
attain and comply with them.

As a forwardlooking enterprise, ECO Energi reports 
on our work with corporate social responsibility to 
our stakeholders. Among other initiatives, new web 
pages will be set up to provide information about the 
Group’s corporate social responsibility and environ
mental efforts.

“

E-CO Energi 

depends on 

maintaining 

good relations 

with its  

stakeholders, 

so the Group 

cooperates 

closely with 

industry,  

municipalities 

and local   

communitites.

Corporate Social Responsibility
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Directors of E-CO Energi Holding AS

erik nygaard 
CHaIr of THe Board

Erik Nygaard has served on  
ECO’s Board of Directors since 
2009. 

Nygaard has a law degree. In 
addition to directorships, he  
currently runs his own business.

Heidi larssen 
Board memBer

Heidi Larssen was appointed to  
ECO’s Board of Directors in 
2011. 

Larssen earned her law degree 
from the University of Oslo.  
She currently works as district 
director of the Grünerløkka  
urban district.

Helge Skudal 
Board memBer

Helge Skudal was apponited to  
ECO’s Board of Directors in 2006. 

Skudal has a degree in eco
nomics from the Norwegian 
School of Economics and  
Business Administration, and 
also attended the Norwegian 
College of Government  
Administration. Helge Skudal 
has held a number of  
directorships in the energy  
sector. He currently runs his 
own consultancy.

Trond vernegg 
Board memBer

Trond Vernegg was appointed 
to ECO’s Board of Directors in 
2002. 

He holds a law degree and  
currently works as a partner and 
lawyer at the law firm Arntzen 
de Besche.

lars oust 
emPloyee dIreCTor

Lars Oust was hired by the  
company in 2008. 

Oust has served as an  
employee representative on  
the Board since 2012. He is a 
graduate engineer and works  
as a VTA and project manager  
in the maintenance department 
in Hallingdal.

knut Svensgård 
emPloyee dIreCTor

Knut Svensgård was hired by the 
company in 1987. 

Svensgård has been the  
employees’ trade union  
representative on ECO’s Board 
since 2012. He is a mechanic 
by profession and is part of the 
Maintenance Department at 
Hallingdal. 

mai-lill Ibsen 
Board memBer

MaiLill Ibsen was appointed 
to ECO’s Board of Directors in 
2007. 

Ibsen holds a degree in  
economics from the Norwegian 
School of Management BI and 
from the Stanford University 
Graduate School of Business. 
She runs her own business.
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Turlid Falls in Aurland.  
(Photo: ECO)
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Directors’ report 2012

2012 started with recordhigh reservoir levels. 
The available annual water supply was also well 
over normal, enabling ECO Energi to increase 
production by no less than 1 TWh compared with 
last year. The Group obtained prices that were 36 
per cent higher than the area price for Oslo (NO1), 
thanks to successful power price and currency 
hedging. Smooth operations and good production 
planning with high availability of the power plants 
also contributed to yet another year of strong 
performance for ECO Energi.

Consolidated operating revenues totalled MNOK  
3 251. The average selling price was 0.303 NOK/
kWh, while the average spot price per month 
varied between 0.10 and 0.36 NOK/kWh during the 
year. The net profit for the year was MNOK 910, 
compared with MNOK 943 last year. The Board of 
Directors proposes a dividend of MNOK 750.

Mork Power Plant was licensed in 2012 and 
several projects are in the licensing process. 
Priority is given to increasing volume rather than 
capacity due to green electricity certificates.

New longterm loans were raised from NIB and 
Norwegian bond investors on favourable terms.

fInanCIal reSulTS 
ECO Energi’s operating revenue came to MNOK  
3 251 in 2012, down MNOK 263 from the year 
before. Power prices have been under pressure 
due to ample access to resources in 2012. ECO 
Energi’s reservoir levels went from close to the 
previous maximum early in the year to normal 
levels at the end of the year. The Group’s total 
production climbed by 1 TWh from 2011 to 10.8 
TWh in 2012. 

Good production planning and successful hedging 
helped ensure that ECO Energi obtained an 
average selling price of no less than 36 per cent 
more than the weighted hourly spot price for Oslo 
(NO1). The average selling price for 2012 was 
0.303 NOK/kWh, compared with 0.371 NOK/kWh 
in 2011. Thus the selling price was 0.068 NOK/
kWh lower than last year. 

Operating expenses were MNOK 1 076, an 
increase of MNOK 12 from 2011. The operating 
profit for 2012 was thus MNOK 2 175, down MNOK 
275 from 2011. 

The Group’s financial expenses were down by 
MNOK 37. This was mainly due to lower interest 

expenses. During the period under review, two 
new longterm loans totalling MNOK 550 were 
raised, with terms to maturity ranging from 10 to 
15 years. The loans were made by the Nordic 
Investment Bank (NIB) and a bond loan was 
issued on the Norwegian market. Total interest
bearing debt increased by MNOK 343 in 2012. 

EBT (earnings before tax) came to MNOK 1 900, 
down MNOK 271 from last year. Taxes added up  
to MNOK 990, which gives a lower tax rate (52 per 
cent) than in 2011 (57 per cent). The main 
explanation is lower resource rent tax as a result 
of low spot prices.

The net profit for the year was MNOK 910 in 2012, 
compared with MNOK 943 in 2011. The profit was 
thus MNOK 33 lower than in 2011. 

InveSTmenTS
The Group invested MNOK 272 in fixed assets.  
The investments resulted in somewhat higher 
production, but were primarily investments in 
maintenance.

The most important ongoing projects are the new 
power plant in Embretsfoss (ECO Energi’s 
interest is 50 per cent), planned for completion in 
Q1 2013, and the renovation of Rendalen Power 
Plant (ECO Energi owns 40 per cent) with 
planned completion in Q1 2013. 

The upgrading of a total of four units in the Hol 1 
Power Station was completed in 2012. When the 
first unit was commissioned in 2010, the turbine 
made more noise than expected. Noise abate
ment measures were implemented in 2012 as 
well. Noise levels currently seem to be at an 
acceptable level now that parts of the pipe trench 
have been insulated. All in all, the Hol 1 renova
tion cost roughly MNOK 270. The improvements 
have increased production volume by 20 GWh.

At the Solbergfoss Power Station, there was a 
major overhaul of a unit in 2012, and a new 
runner was installed to improve efficiency. The 
measure was successful and two more runners 
are going to be replaced. Consideration is being 
given to replacing four more runners as well. 

Vinstra Kraftselskap installed a new ball valve for 
unit 4 in 2012, and signed a contract to upgrade 
the same unit. The plan is for it to be commis
sioned in 2014. 

120 years of  
electricity in Oslo
 
On 13 December 1892, 
something happened to 
change the future for 
Norway’s capital. ECO 
Energi’s precursor, 
Christiania Elektricitets
verk, lit the city’s first 
electric street light. ECO 
Energi has operated, 
maintained and developed 
power production facilities 
for 120 years. 
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fundInG and CaPITal STruCTure
The cash flow from operating activities was MNOK 
895, up MNOK 161 from 2011, related to taxrelat
ed accrual items as well as a somewhat lower 
profit than last year. The Group had modest 
borrowing activity that amounted to MNOK 550, at 
the same time it paid off MNOK 307 in longterm 
loans. The Group’s liquid reserves totalled MNOK 
539 at the beginning of the year and MNOK 712 at 
year end.

A new loan was raised from the Nordic Invest
ment Bank (NIB), in addition to the company float
ing a new bond loan on the Norwegian market. 
Altogether, interestbearing debt increased by 
MNOK 343. 

In June 2011, ECO Energi secured a longterm 
credit facility with a consortium of five banks. The 
credit facility has a ceiling of MNOK 2 000 and will 
run for five years, with the option of a twoyear 
extension. Under the agreement, the loan was 
extended by one year in 2012. 

ECO Energi has an irredeemable subordinated 
loan from Oslo Municipality for a total of MNOK 3 
347. It will fall due for payment on 31 December 
2022.

Of the Group’s total interestbearing liabilities of 
MNOK 4 377, just less than MNOK 800 will fall due 
in 2013, of which MNOK 600 is a shortterm 
commercial paper. The Group’s loan portfolio has 
a balanced composition of loans with a due date 
structure ranging from 0.3 to 18 years, an average 
term to maturity of 6.3 years and an average 
fixedrate interest period, including derivatives, of 
2.6 years.

All loan contracts include a negative pledge 
clause and pari passus ranking of creditors, as 
well as an ownership clause, meaning that the 
lenders can call in the loans if Oslo Municipality 
sells down to less than a 50.1 per cent stake in 
ECO Energi Holding AS. The Group has no other 
covenants or restrictions linked to any of its loans.

At 31 December 2012, the Group’s total assets 
came to MNOK 16 266 (MNOK 16 088), while 
equity was MNOK 5 964 (MNOK 5 804) after 
provisions for dividends. This translates into an 
equity ratio at year end of 37 per cent, as against 
36 per cent at the beginning of the year. 

alloCaTIon of THe ProfIT/loSS 
The parent company’s net profit for the year was 
on MNOK 550. Net financial items added up to 
MNOK 768, compared with MNOK 1 085 in 2011. 
The Group contribution from subsidiaries added 
up to MNOK 1 000. 

The Board of Directors proposes the following 
allocation of the profit of MNOK 550 in ECO 
Energi Holding AS for the 2012 accounting year:

dividends: MNOK 750 
from other equity:           MNOK 200

ECO Energi Holding AS had MNOK 277 in 
distributable equity at 31 December 2012 after 
provisions for dividends.

In compliance with the Norwegian Accounting Act, 
the Board confirms that the financial statements 
have been submitted on the basis of the going 
concern assumption.

“

The Group obtained prices that were 36 per cent higher 

than the area price for Oslo (NO1), thanks to successful 

power price and currency hedging. Smooth operations 

and good produkction planning with hig availability of 

the power plants also contributed to yet another year of 

strong performance for E-CO Energi.

Lights limited to  
city centre
 
Getting lights in the city 
centre was a momentous 
event. Nonetheless, it took 
a long time before the 
phenomenon spread 
throughout the whole area 
we now call Oslo. The area 
around the Parliament 
Building got electric street 
lights in 1892. Initially, 
electricity was used only to 
produce light. In fact, for 
years, the company was 
known as Oslo Lysverker 
(Oslo Lighting).
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e-Co enerGI’S aCTIvITIeS 
The Group’s core activities are the ownership, 
operation and management of hydropower 
installations, including:

• Energy management  the sale of power on the 
wholesale market 

• Generation – operations, maintenance and 
project implementation

• Business development in energy and related 
fields 

The main activities are linked to the planning and 
implementation of the operation and maintenance 
of the power plants as well as the optimal 
utilisation of reservoirs to maximise the potential 
yield on power production. The Group’s other 
activities in 2012 consisted of business develop
ment and new power development, as well as 
joint ownership of other power companies. The 
Group owns stakes in Oppland Energi AS (61.4 per 
cent), Vinstra Kraftselskap DA (66.7 per cent), 
Opplandskraft DA (40 per cent), Embretsfoss
kraftverkene DA (50 per cent) and Norsk Grønn
kraft AS (25 per cent). The investment in Oppland 
Energi is handled as a jointly controlled business 
due to regulations in the shareholder agreement. 

The Group’s head office is located in Oslo, while 
its production facilities are located in Buskerud 
County, Sogn and Fjordane County and Østfold 
County. The Group also has production in Oppland 
County and Hedmark County.

ECO Energi Holding AS is wholly owned by Oslo 
Municipality, and has a whollyowned subsidiary, 
ECO Energi AS, which handles the Group’s 
collective production activities, including the 
whollyowned subsidiary Oslo Lysverker AS and 
the partiallyowned companies. 

The power market 
Good access to resources contributed to 
recordhigh production in Norway and Sweden 
alike in 2012. Reservoir levels were above normal 
early in the year, and there was ample precipita
tion and inflow during the year. The aggregate 
production of Norwegian power plants totalled 
146.0 TWh in 2012. The last time Norway was 
even close to this level was in 2000 when 
production was 142.8 TWh. Sweden also had 
recordhigh power production in 2012. This 
means that large volumes of power were exported 
by Norway and Sweden, 18 and 19 TWh, re spec 
t ively. Early in 2012, reservoirs in Norway and  

Sweden contained 11 TWh more water than they 
normally do. There were normal amounts of 
snow, but precipitation was abundant in the early 
half of the year. This led to a high inflow far into 
the summer. The latter half of the year was a bit 
more dry than normal. Altogether for 2012, the 
NorwegianSwedish hydropower area recorded an 
inflow that was 20 TWh above normal. The 
percentage of deviation was slightly higher in 
Sweden than in Norway. 

Good access to resources led to pressure on 
prices. The annual average in our price area, NO1, 
was 0.221 NOK/kWh. That is the lowest annual 
price since 2007, and 0.14 NOK lower than in 
2011. Prices varied considerably, from daily rates 
in excess of 0.60 NOK/kWh in February down to 
less than 0.08 NOK/kWh in large parts of July. 
Price trends have generally been similar for Oslo 
and the system price, although high inflows and 
power curtailment led to periodic price differences 
compared with the areas around us. The annual 
average system price was 0.234 NOK/kWh, i.e. 
0.012 NOK/kWh higher than in NO1. The decline 
in coal and carbon permit prices has also 
softened Nordic power prices.

Economic growth was still weak in large parts of 
the world in 2012, especially in parts of Europe. 
Authorities the world over have implemented 
monetary policy initiatives to boost the economy. 
This has helped ensure that the stock markets in 
Europe and the US ended the year higher than at 
the outset, despite the fact that several countries 
experienced slow economic activity. Oil and gas 
prices were at roughly the same level at the 
beginning and end of the year. The prices of coal 
and emission allowances dropped significantly, 
however, as did German power prices. 

The Group’s power production 
ECO Energi increased its production by 1 TWh 
compared with 2011. ECO Energi’s whollyowned 
and partiallyowned production facilities 
generated 10.8 TWh. ECO Energi’s reservoir 
levels went from a recordhigh level at the 
beginning of the year to roughly normal at year 
end. The available annual inflow was above 
normal, as in the rest of the country, but less than 
last year’s level. 

Good production planning and successful price 
hedging helped ensure that ECO Energi obtained 
an average selling price in 2012 that was 36 per 
cent higher than the area price, excluding 

Directors’ report

NOK 44 per kWh
 
In 1892, the people of Oslo 
paid NOK 0.75 for one 
kilowatt hour of electricity. 
In other words, they paid 
about the same price as 
people pay today, measured 
in nominal NOK, but that 
was a great deal of money 
back then. Based on the 
consumer price index, that 
is about the same as if we 
were to pay NOK 44/kWh 
today. That being said, wage 
growth has far outpaced 
inflation. In 1892, it took 
about 45 minutes of work to 
pay for one kilowatt hour, 
while the average employee 
today earns enough to buy  
a kilowatt hour every ten 
seconds. No wonder 
electricity was considered  
a luxury!
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concessionary power. There were no events that 
caused major interruptions in operations in 2012. 
For the production facilities that we operate, 
availability adjusted for utility value was 97.1 per 
cent in 2012. This was slightly lower than the year 
before (98 per cent), but still higher than the 
target for the year.
 
The Operations Centre at Gol has been upgraded 
to satisfy the new emergency contingency 
regulations that apply from 1 January 2013.

Strategy and business development
In 2010, the Board of Directors adopted a 
strategic plan for ECO Energi for the period up to 
2015. The Group will further develop hydropower 
in its own regulation areas and in jointly and 
partially owned undertakings. Further, ECO will 
participate actively in the development of new 
hydropower, hydropower transactions and the 
restructuring of the industry. In addition, the 
Group considers opportunities for investments in 
hydropower outside Norway, and in wind power in 
the Nordic countries and power exchanges with 
other countries. 

The Ministry of Petroleum and Energy granted a 
licence to the Mork Power Plant in Lærdal in 
December 2012. The project may get underway in 
2014. The power plant will subsequently produce 
roughly 95 GWh, of which ECO Energi’s interest 
will be some 60 GWh. In summer 2012, the 
Norwegian Water Resources and Energy 
Directorate (NVE) granted a permit to upgrade the 
Brekkefoss Power Plant in Hemsedal.  Upgrading 
and extending the power plant will generate about 
5 GWh of new power. Construction will be planned 
in 2013 and then carried out in 201315. Invest
ment decisions are expected on both projects in 
2013.

The feasibility studies prior to initiating the 
Hemsil 3 project have been completed and there 
are plans to submit a licence application to NVE in 
winter 2013. In autumn 2011, NVE allowed for the 

possibility of revising the licencing terms for the 
Hemsil regulation project. The goal of the revision 
of the licensing terms would be to mitigate 
environmental damage. The municipalities would 
like the introduction of a minimum water flow and 
other environmental measures to be laid down in 
the regulation documents. Reports on fish, 
cultural artefacts and wild reindeer were 
completed in 2012, and the revision document will 
be submitted to NVE in the early half of 2013. 

Aurland Municipality and ECO Energi have 
presented initiatives to prevent landslides, which 
will also boost power production in the Aurland 
power plants. In 2009, the Storting opened the 
possibility for licensing the measure. The project 
is still awaiting the conclusions of an expert group 
that will issue an opinion on the risk of landslides, 
after which the licensing process will possibly 
proceed. 

Feasibility studies prior to initiating the Hol 1 
Stolsvatn project were conducted in summer 
2012. The project will boost power production in 
the Hols system by about 80 GWh. There are plans 
to submit a licence application to NVE in the 
winter of 2013.

In April, NVE sent a positive recommendation to 
the Ministry of Petroleum and Energy for the 
Rosten Power Plant in Sel Municipality. NVE’s  
recommendation means a marginal reduction  
of 5 GWh in estimated annual production, from  
185 GWh to 180 GWh. The Ministry of Petroleum 
and Energy conducted its final site inspection in 
August, and it is expected that the decision will  
be adopted in 2013.

Work has been done on developing additional 
projects under the auspices of Opplandskraft 
during the year, and licence applications have 
been submitted to NVE for development in Nedre 
Otta as well as in Tolga in the Østerdalen Valley. 
Planned production for these projects will be  
300 and 200 GWh, respectively. 

“

In connection with power development, dam revisions 

and re-investments in production facilities, E-CO Energi 

strives to ensure that any encroachments on the  

environment are minimised.
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Hammeren – Oslo’s 
first power plant
 
In the 1890s, Oslo’s 
electricity was produced by 
a steamdriven continuous 
current plant in the 
Pipervika area (now 
Rozenkrantsgate). It did not 
take long before the demand 
for electricity far outstripped 
what the plant could supply. 
Soon the search was on for 
new ways to generate power 
for the city. Hydropower had 
been used with success 
several places in the world, 
so the city of Oslo decided to 
exploit the waterfall from 
Lake Skjærsjøen to Lake 
Maridalsvannet by building a 
power station at Hammeren 
in the Maridalen Valley. 
Construction of the 
Hammeren Power Plant 
commenced in late 1898 and 
was completed already in 
June 1900. The plant 
became an immediate 
success. In 1901, the steam 
power station generated 605 
000 kWh, while the 
Hammeren Power Plant 
generated 4 177 000 kWh.
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For ECO Energi, it is important that sufficient 
cables are installed for power exchanges with 
other countries. The project North Connect, of 
which ECO Energi owns 16.7 per cent, applied  
to NVE in January 2013 for a licence to build and 
operate a direct current connection between 
Great Britain and Norway.  

Efforts continued in 2012 to pave the way for 
expanding the energy supply to offshore installa
tions on the Norwegian Continental Shelf based 
on electricity from the mainland, in collaboration 
with other players.

ECO Energi has continued its efforts to identify 
business opportunities related to wind farms in 
Norway and Sweden. The wind power market is 
demanding, but ECO is prepared to be an 
industrial owner of profitable wind power 
production, preferably in collaboration with 
established players and on projects that are 
already licenced and whose network connections 
have been clarified. 

CorPoraTe GovernanCe and manaGemenT
At ECO Energi, good corporate governance will 
help ensure that the Group creates value for its 
owners and the community, as set out in the 
corporate strategy. The company follows the 
Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate 
Governance (NUES) insofar as appropriate. In 
2012, the Board of Directors reviewed and 
updated the company’s Corporate Governance 
activities based on the NUES. 

ECO Energi works systematically to achieve its 
paramount vision, which is to be a leading 
hydropower producer  competent and creative.  
A comprehensive system of governance has been 
established in the form of strategies, guidelines 
and detailed descriptions of routines to ensure 
the desired quality in every unit of the organisation. 

Corporate governance 
ECO is wholly owned by Oslo Municipality and is 
governed in compliance with the provisions in the 
Norwegian Act relating to Limited Liability 
Companies and the Group’s Articles of Associa
tion, in line with the code of best practice for 
corporate governance of limited liability compa
nies. ECO is subject to securities legislation, but 
only to a limited extent to stock exchange 
regulations associated with the company’s loan 
liabilities. In addition, the company’s management 
system and code of ethics provide guidance for 
the Group’s operations.

In keeping with Oslo Municipality’s ownership 
strategy, ECO Energi has the following main 
goals for its activities:

• maximise value creation and ensure high, 
stable returns

• be an attractive employer, with an inclusive 
working environment

• apply sound business practices in all its 
activities.

The company organises ownership meetings. 
These are informal meetings at which the 
company’s Board meets with the municipality’s 
representatives of the owners, i.e. the city 
counsellor in charge of business and industry and 
the chief municipal executive, to discuss items of 
great and/or principle importance.

The Board’s work
The Board has seven members, two of whom are 
elected by and from among the employees. At the 
general meeting in 2012, two Board members 
who were up for election were reelected for a 
twoyear term. Heidi Larssen was elected as a 
new member of Board of Directors for a term of 
two years after Ellen Christine Christiansen left 
the Board. Knut Svensgård and Lars Oust were 
elected to the Board by the employees for a term 
of two years. 

The Board held seven ordinary and three 
extraordinary Board meetings in 2012, and it dealt 
with one item by circulating the documents. 

ECO Energi’s Audit Committee consists of three 
of the directors. The Committee is chaired by 
MaiLill Ibsen. The Audit Committee prepares  
the Board for dealing with tasks associated with 
financial reporting and audits. The Audit 
Committee had four meetings in 2012. 

organisation and management
ECO Energi is organised as a corporation with 
ECO Energi Holding AS as the parent company. 

E CO’s corporate executive board consists of six 
individuals. The management and operation of the 
Group are dealt with by one administration and 
one organisation. The Group’s corporate policies, 
e.g. for governance and the allocation of capital, 
also apply to the Group’s own positions and to 
partiallyowned positions in which ECO has a 
controlling interest.

“

[It is] neither 

environmentally 

appropriate nor 

cost efficient to 

curtail power 

production in 

one river system, 

only to replace 

it with develop-

ment projects 

in other river 

systems or by 

the development 

of other power 

sources.

Directors’ report
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rISk manaGemenT and InTernal ConTrol
ECO Energi’s operations entail risks related to 
market operations, financial management, 
operating activities and operating parameters. 
Risk management is based on a combination of 
elements that includes key factors such as 
authorisation structures, market monitoring, 
procedures and emergency contingency plans.  
E –CO Energi’s overall risk is monitored at the 
corporate level and is reported to corporate 
management and the Board.

A central investment committee has been set up 
by ECO to ensure the efficient follow up of risk 
and profitability with a view to individual invest
ments proposed for the Group.

E–CO Energi’s corporate governance is hierarchical 
and has articles of association, a vision and values 
as well as guidelines adopted at the highest 
levels. Based on this and uniform principles of 
governance for the ECO companies, the directors 
are responsible for establishing processes that 
guarantee good internal control within their own 
sphere of responsibility. Internal control is a key 
element of risk management, and continuous 
efforts are made to improve and strengthen 
internal control in ECO Energi’s corporate 
governance and the Group’s financial reporting.

Financial reports are made to the Board and 
corporate management, based on established 
reporting plans. The reporting includes reports on 
the development of critical success factors and 
significant risk factors attached to the Group’s 
operations.

The Board’s supervisory responsibility is dealt 
with by monthly reports on the Group’s financial 
status, prognoses for current and subsequent 
calendar years and key value drivers. To monitor 
internal control, an internal position for risk 
follow up has been established and relevant 
external expertise is hired on an ad hoc basis for 
the implementation of internal auditing projects.

In 2012, the company carried out a comprehen
sive survey of the Group’s main risks. This survey 
has provided a good basis for the assessing the 
Group’s exposure to risk compared with the 
resources at its disposal.

The Audit Committee acts on behalf of the Board 
to monitor financial reports and internal controls 
related to this, including the application of 

accounting policies and the exercise of discretion 
in rendering the accounts. Corporate manage
ment and the Audit Committee have regular 
meetings with the Group’s independent auditor.

The accounting process involves distinct roles, 
responsibilities and tasks. Clear requirements  
apply to contents and deadlines, including the 
accounting policies and checklists that are 
intended to facilitate a good, efficient process. 
Procedures and routines have been set up for 
generating the reports, including verification and 
documentation. Based on an evaluation of 
highrisk areas, verifications are often aimed at 
the areas that have the greatest risk of errors in 
the accounts. In addition to ongoing verifications, 
analytical assessments and controls are also 
carried out. ECO Energi has the systems and 
expertise it needs to produce correct, efficient 
financial reports in keeping with generally 
accepted accounting principles in Norway, and  
an independent auditor is used to ensure 
comprehensive expertise in relation to external 
and internal requirements, as well as for expert 
opinions.

Clear parameters have been established for the 
Group’s risk. Within these parameters, future 
production is hedged during periods when prices 
are considered optimal. However, the choice of 
hedging strategy results in a tax risk inasmuch as 
the resource rent tax is estimated on the basis of 
the spot price and not the actual selling price. The 
Group pursues a hedging strategy that takes tax 
risk into account, so that the hedging of expected 
future production is limited, meaning that a 
higher spot price will have a neutral or favourable 
impact on the expected cash flow after tax. 

The Group has limited, marketmonitoring trading 
activity in financial power derivatives; this activity 
has been spun off into a special cleared portfolio 
with separate authorisations. Trading is moni
tored and reported on the basis of adopted risk 
parameters. 

The Group is also vulnerable to interest level 
fluctuations on consolidated liabilities. At the end 
of 2012, the interestrate duration was 2.6 years, 
which is within the established parameters. The 
Group has no currency risk on its foreign debt, as 
all loans are hedged against NOK. 

The Group’s policy is not to take currency risk 
when hedging power, so financial power 
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Only two private 
subscribers in 1892
 
There were only two private 
subscribers in 1892. The 
bookseller Jørgen W 
Cappelen in Kirkegaten  
15 had 11 incandescent 
lamps and consumed 99 
kWh a year, while sausage 
maker Chr. Riecker at 
Grensen 9 had 22 incandes
cent lamps and an annual 
consumption of 119 kWh. 
By comparison, an average 
household today consumes 
close to 20 000 kWh.
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contracts, all of which are priced in EUR, are 
hedged against currency fluctuations using 
futures or currency options. 

By hedging transactions in interest rate and 
currency derivatives, the Group incurs counter
party risk. This risk is limited through the 
diversification of counterparts and by defining a 
lower limit for approved counterparts’ credit
worthiness. An upper limit is also placed on total 
credit exposure through investments and 
derivative positions in respect of the individual 
counterpart. ECO Energi has signed agreements 
that allow setoffs of gains against losses (ISDA 
agreements) with all counterparts in financial 
derivatives. All trade in power derivatives is 
cleared through NASDAQ OMx Commodities. The 
Group’s counterparts for physical power sales are 
generally Nord Pool Spot and reliable largescale 
players in the power industry in Norway.

HealTH, SafeTy and THe envIronmenT (HSe)
The paramount objective of HSE work is to protect 
and safeguard assets, i.e. people, plant, equipment 
and information. HSE includes the working 
environment as well as the outdoor environment, 
and it aims to ensure that work or equipment do not 
cause accidents, injuries or losses. Responsibility 
for this work rests with the individual manager.
 
In 2012, preventative efforts, including training, 
emergency drills, reviews of routines, and the 
follow up of undesirable incidents, have had high 
priority. The risk tool ‘WhatIf’ has also been used 
in several parts of the organisation. 

A comprehensive working environment survey 
was conducted early in the year. It showed that we 
scored extremely high on important factors such 
as job satisfaction, teamwork and HSE. 

The company gives priority to initiatives and 
activities that can contribute to a positive working 
environment featuring high levels of job satisfac
tion and involvement, and low absence due to 
illness.
 
Physical checkups that take the working environ
ment into account, offers of physical therapy and 
other initiatives for promoting good health are all 
part of the health care programme. 
 
In 2012, ECO Energi experienced a serious 
accident at one of our power plants. An employee 
was seriously injured as a result of an electric  
arc explosion in connection with a switching 
operation. The Group set up an internal invest
igation group that has submitted its report to the 
police, the Norwegian Labour Inspection Authority 
and the Directorate for Civil Protection and 
Emergency Planning (DSB). The accident is still 
under investigation by the police.

orGanISaTIon 
There were 172 employees at the end of 2012, six 
of whom were apprentices. During 2012, nine new 
employees joined the Group in regular positions. 
Eight individuals resigned or retired.
 

key figures 2012 2011

Fulltime equivalents, 
e.g. apprentices

number 162 159

Apprentices, number number 6 7

Percentage of women percentage 16 14

Gender parity
The Board of Directors in ECO Energi consists of 
seven members, two of whom are women. Forty 
per cent of the shareholderelected directors are 
women. 
 
ECO Energi has 27 female employees in regular 

key HSe figures Target 2012 2011 2010

Absence due to illness   < 4% 2.9 3.2 2.5

of which Company funded sickpay period (116 days) 1.5 1.2 1.1

of which Government funded sickpay period (>16 days) 1.4 2.0 1.4

Number of days of sick leave/ 1123 1193 853

Number of injuries 5 7 9

Lost time injury rate (LTI)* 0 target  3.5 3.8 4.0

Lost work day rate (LWDR) 0 target  17.3 23.1 36.2

Registered absenteeism (Ffactor) 325.8 7.7 20.1

LTI = number of lost time injuries per million working hours/total number of working hours
LWDR = number of days of sick leave due to injuries per million working hours/total number of working hours
F = Number of days of sick leave due to occupational injuries per million working hours/ total number of working hours
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Rendalen
 
Through its ownership of 
Opplandskraft, ECO is 
taking part in the enlarge
ment of the Rendalen 
Power Plant in Hedmark 
County. The Rendalen Plant 
makes use of a gross head 
of 210 metres between the 
River Glomma at Høyegga 
and the Northern Rena 
River at Lake Lomnessjøen. 
A new power station is 
currently under construc
tion inside the mountain, 
about 200 metres further in 
from the existing station. 
The new power station will 
be equipped with a more 
modern generator than the 
old one and it will make 
more efficient use of the 
water. The enlargement 
means that the power plant 
can boost its production of 
renewable energy by about 
40 GWh, which is equivalent 
to the consumption of about 
2000 singlefamily 
dwellings. New Rendalen 
will be completed in the 
early half of 2013.
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positions. This translates into 16 per cent women. 
Two of the six members of the corporate 
management board are women. The Group also 
has three more female managers. The majority  
of those in parttime positions are women. 
 
One of the Group’s goals is to boost the percent
age of female employees. Increasing access to 
qualified women with the requisite skills is a 
longterm effort. Measures are first and foremost 
directed at young people and educational 
programmes, for example, through the two 
energy exhibitions that ECO Energi has set up in 
Gol and Aurland. ECO Energi’s goal is to 
generate interest in and disseminate knowledge 
about energy production, which will eventually 
help promote the recruitment of new coworkers. 
In 2012, ECO Energi hired more students for 
summer jobs than before, including several 
women. We are also experiencing growing 
interest among young people and students who 
want to write theses about and work with 
renewable energy. 

Routines related to hiring, promotion, wages/
salaries and remuneration packages and human 
skills development measures have been 
established to ensure that we do not discriminate 
on the basis of gender, age, ethnicity or religion. 

expertise, the working environment and  
corporate culture
Knowledge sharing and human resources 
development were high priorities in 2012. Some of 
the projects have been inhouse while others have 
been carried out in collaboration with other 
companies in the industry. Training, further and 
continuing education and leadership seminars are 
key elements of human resources development, 
along with employees’ meetings, an orientation 
for new employees, study tours, supplier follow 
up and participation in industrial networks.
 
ECO Energi is experiencing good access to 
qualified labour for skilled worker positions, but a 
tighter labour market for engineers, especially in 
Hallingdal and Aurland. 

reputation
ECO Energi enjoys good visibility in the local  
media in the areas in which the company’s core 
operations, projects and other activities take 
place. The headlines are generally positive, 
which helps improve the Group’s reputation as 
a limited liability company with a good working 

environment, offering good working conditions 
and opportunities. Also in national matters and in 
relevant industrial fora, the overall impression is 
that ECO Energi has a good reputation.

THe ouTdoor envIronmenT 
All ECO Energi’s power production in 2012 was 
based on renewable sources that are virtually free 
of greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions. 

ECO Energi has prepared an Environmental 
Report for 2012. The report defines a set of 
indicators to determine the status of the most 
important environmental aspects of the Group’s 
activities. In 2012, there were no breaches of the 
licencing terms linked to reservoir water levels or 
minimum water flows.

Despite the fact that hydropower is clean 
renewable energy, the building, operation and 
maintenance of hydropower installations leave a 
footprint on the environment. The effects are 
generally local and related to physical encroach
ments on the environment and the impact on 
biological diversity of changes in the flow of water 
and water temperature. In connection with power 
development, dam revisions and reinvestments 
in production facilities, ECO Energi strives to 
ensure that any encroachments on the environ
ment are minimised. 

The voluntary minimum water flow in Hemsil 
downstream from the Eikre Dam was maintained 
in 2012. The attention devoted in recent years to 
improving spawning conditions and spawning 
grounds for sea trout and Atlantic salmon in the 
Aurland River continued in 2012. The Group is 
required to stock 33 major and minor reservoirs, 
including indirectly regulated lakes in Hallingdal 
and Aurland. Roughly MNOK 5 was spent on 
stocking trout in 2012. 

On a voluntary basis, 150 l/s were released from 
Aurland 2 in February and December to ensure a 
watercovered area in Lake Vassbygd for Atlantic 
salmon and sea trout fry. This adds up to about 
1.7 million kWh in lost power production.

frameWork CondITIonS
Hydropower occupies a unique position when it 
comes to meeting the needs of the future for 
cleaner, more profitable and regulatable power. 
From this perspective, it is important that the 
Norwegian authorities are cautious when placing 
limitations on existing power production. The 

Directors’ report

More power at Gol
 
ECO plans to build two 
new power plants in Gol 
Municipality. The one will 
be called Hemsil 3 and it 
will exploit the drop from 
the Eikre Dam to Gol, 
parallel to the existing 
Hemsil 2. Impact analyses 
were carried out in 2012 
and the licence application 
was submitted to NVE in 
January 2013. The new 
plant will better exploit the 
flow of floodwater and add 
about 90 GWh of power 
production. The second 
project is a micro power 
project on the Hallifossen 
Falls in the Hallingdal River. 
The project will generate  
12 GWh of new power.
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Norwegian government’s right to revise licensing 
terms and conditions could result in a permanent 
loss of production capacity at several of ECO 
Energi’s facilities. The Board of Directors agrees 
that some changes need to be made in certain 
river systems out of consideration for the natural 
environment. Meanwhile, it is neither environ
mentally appropriate nor cost efficient to curtail 
power production in one river system, only to 
replace it with development projects in other river 
systems or by the development of other power 
sources.

The status of ECO Energi’s licences is that the 
Hols regulation and the Hemsil regulation are 
open to revision, and that UsteNes can be 
opened. The Aurland regulation can be opened in 
2019. NVE and the Directorate for Nature 
Management (DN) initiated a programme in 2012 
to give priority to watercourses which includes 
measures that can lead to a reduction in power 
production. After having considered factors such 
as reliability of supply, potential environmental 
dividends, flood safety, the need to maintain 
production and opportunities for new production, 
ECO Energi’s recommendation to the authorities 
is that neither Aurland nor UsteNes should be 
given priority.

Work on the EU’s Water Directive continued 
throughout the year. The main activities have been 
related to the documentation of the environmen
tal status of the watercourses, as well as the 
preparations for the analysis of initiatives in 2013. 
Energy Norway has a separate network project in 
connection with the water directive, and ECO 
Energi has participated actively in this cooperation.

The SwedishNorwegian power certificate market 
was introduced in 2012. The overall scheme is 
intended to provide an incentive for the develop

ment of 26.4 TWh of new renewable power 
production by the end of 2020. In principle, all the 
power projects in ECO Energi’s investment 
portfolio that lead to higher production will qualify 
for elcertificates. The same applies to invest
ments with earlier building starts on certain 
terms. ECO Energi received the first certificates 
for the upgrading of transformers at the Hemsil 2 
power station. The certificate scheme implies 
substantial stimulation on the supply side of the 
power market. Accordingly, the efforts to mitigate 
the adverse consequences on ECO Energi’s 
future value creation have high priority.

In summer 2012, Statnett submitted a proposal 
for a new price strategy for the period 201418. 
Major changes are proposed to finance a doubling 
of central grid costs in the runup to 2018. The 
power producers could see a substantial increase 
in the feeding tariff. Norwegian producers already 
pay the highest feeding tariffs in the Nordic 
countries, and among the highest rates in Europe. 
ECO Energi is therefore critical to Statnett’s 
proposed new price strategy.

In autumn 2012, the Ministry of Petroleum and 
Energy proposed an amendment to the Energy Act 
entailing that only the system operator (Statnett), 
or an enterprise in which the system operator has 
a controlling interest, should be able to get a 
licence to own and operate interconnectors. In the 
opinion of ECO Energi, placing constraints on 
ownership will place unnecessary and unfortu
nate limitations on the future development of 
necessary interconnectors. Independent players 
should still be able to build, own and operate 
interconnectors. The bill is likely to be put before 
the Storting in the spring session of 2013. “

2012 gave us a taste of a new reality for the Nordic 

power market, with an energy glut and exports. 

Directors’ report

A worldclass power 
station tunnel 
 
ECO’s facilities are 
enormous. The head race 
tunnel to the Nes Power 
Plant in Hallingdal is one  
of the largest power station 
tunnels in the world, 
stretching for more than  
30 km and with a cross
section of some 8 x 8 
metres or about 65 m2. 
When it was built in the 
mid1960s, some 31 million 
m3 of rock were excavated. 
That translates into more 
than three million  
truckloads! 
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ProSPeCTS for THe fuTure
E –CO Energi’s main focus will continue to be on 
creating more value through the optimal 
operation and management of power plants, as 
well as on the best possible utilisation of the 
available water resources. The Group pursues a 
strategy that focuses on organic growth, 
combined with an ambition to play a pivotal role in 
the restructuring of the power industry in Norway, 
primarily through the ownership of physical 
power production rather than through financial 
ownership stakes. 

The Strategic Plan for ECO Energi encompasses 
added value from proprietary physical power 
production as well as investments in new 
hydropower production to the extent profitable 
investment alternatives exist. The Group is 
working on several possible alternatives, both on 
our own and also through our partiallyowned 
positions in inland Norway. The Group possesses 
considerable expertise in the efficient planning, 

management and operation of hydropower 
production. ECO Energi’s financial capacity is 
highly satisfactory.

2012 gave us a taste of a new reality for the 
Nordic power market, with an energy glut and 
exports. In Sweden, a new record for wind power 
was set at 7.2 TWh, no less than 1 TWh higher 
than the year before and nearly 4 TWh more than 
in 2010. The green certificate system will lead to 
further development of renewable power in the 
years ahead in both Norway and Sweden. Growth 
in consumption will be mitigated by increased 
focus on energy conservation, not least as a result 
of the EU’s Energy Efficiency Directive. This trend 
will give rise to a NorwegianSwedish energy glut 
in normal years in the years ahead, and power 
prices will come under pressure.

The Board is well satisfied with the operations 
and the results, and extends its gratitude to all 
employees for their dedicated efforts in 2012.

Trond Vernegg MaiLill Ibsen Helge Skudal

Lars Oust Knut Svensgård Tore Olaf Rimmereid
President and CEO

Oslo, 4 March 2013 
The Board of Directors of ECO Energi Holding AS

Erik Nygaard 
Chair of the Board of Directors

Heidi Larssen 

   

    

         

  

  
 

   

    
         

  

  
 

   

    
         

  

  
 

   

    
         

  

  
 

Directors’ report

New energy  
exhibitions
 
ECO has arranged two new 
energy exhibitions in 
Aurland and Gol for lower 
secondary students and 
others who are interested in 
energy. The exhibitions are 
designed to provide more 
knowledge about energy. 
Through films, animations 
and assignments, we 
explain the water cycle and 
how to generate electricity 
while leaving the smallest 
possible footprint on the 
environment. The exhibition 
in Aurland opened in 
October 2011, while the 
exhibition at Gol opened in 
September 2012.
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Income statement   
1 January – 31 December

Parent comPany GrouP

2011 2012 note (amounts in mnOK) 2012 2011 2010 

3 3  1 operating revenues 3 251 3 514  4 076

 0  0  2 energy purchases, transmission (163) ( 156) ( 144)

( 4) (4)  3 Salaries and other payroll expenses (195) ( 164) ( 99)

 0  0  4 Property tax and licence fee (237) ( 220) ( 216)

 0  0  11 Depreciation (250) ( 285) ( 281)

(5) ( 4)  5 Other operating expenses (231) ( 239) ( 233)

(9) (8) operating expenses (1076) (1 064) ( 973)

( 6) (5) eBIt 2 175 2 450 3 103 

1 350 1 000  13 Income on investments in subsidiaries

 0  0  14 Income on investments in associates ( 2)  0 ( 2)

 106 59  6 Financial income  18  49  48 

( 371) (291)  7 Financial expenses (291) ( 328) ( 338)

1 085 768 net financial items (275) ( 279) ( 292)

1 079 763 ordinary profit before taxes 1 900 2 171 2 811 

( 302) ( 213)  8 Taxes on ordinary result (990) (1 228) (1 611)

 777 550 net profit/(loss) for the year 910  943 1 200 

transfers and aPProPrIatIons

( 23) (200) Transfer to (from) Other equity

 800  750 To dividend

777  550 total allocations

 28 earnings per share (noK)  535  554  705 

Income statement  
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Balance sheet 
AT 31 DESEMBER

Parent comPany GrouP

2011 2012 note (Amounts in MNOK) 2012 2011 2010 

assets

0 0  10 Watercourse rights 7 928 7 928 7 928

7 6  9 Deferred tax asset 258 314 380

7 6 total intangible assets 8 186 8 242 8 308

0 0  11 Property, plant and equipment 6 563 6 540 6 529

10 170 10 170  13 Investments in subsidiaries 0 0 0

2 068 1 798 Lending to subsidiaries 0 0 0

0 0  14 Investments in associates 83 66 46

0 0  15 Loans to associates 0 10 10

50 50  16 Other longterm receivables and investments 449 432 404

12 288 12 018 total, financial fixed assets 532 508 460

12 295 12 024 total fixed assets 15 281 15 290 15 297

4 3  18 Accounts receivable 86 57 84

1 435 1 153  19 Other current receivables 177 162 182

202 402  20 Shortterm investments 412 242 799

220 205  21 Bank deposits, cash in hand etc. 310 337 1 497

1 861 1 763 total current assets 985 798 2 562

14 156 13 787 total assets 16 266 16 088 17 859

Balance sheet
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Parent comPany GrouP

2011 2012 note (Amounts in MNOK) 2012 2011 2010 

1 703 1 703 Share capital 1 703 1 703 1 703

1 903 1 903 Share premium 1 903 1 903 1 903

3 606 3 606 Paid-in capital 3 606 3 606 3 606

483 283 Other equity 2 358 2 198 2 055

483 283 retained earnings 2 358 2 198 2 055

4 089 3 889  22 total equity 5 964 5 804 5 661

8 7  23 Pension liabilities 38 36 36

0 0  9 Deferred tax 455 411 403

418 418  24 Other provisions 57 56 56

426 425 total provisions for liabilities 550 503 495

3 347 3 347  26 subordinated loans 3 347 3 347 3 347

5 031 5 030  25 Other noncurrent liabilities 4 377 4 034 2 224

8 378 8 377 total non-current liabilities 7 724 7 381 5 571

0 0  25 Current interestbearing liabilities 0 0 1 143

2 2 Accounts payable 53 75 95

299 212 Tax payable 892 1 159 1 480

1 0 Public duties payable 154 142 263

800 750 To dividends 750 800 2 800

161 132  27 Other current liabilities 179 224 351

1 263 1 096 total current liabilities 2 028 2 400 6 132

10 067 9 898 total liabilities 10 302 10 284 12 198

14 156 13 787 total equity and liabilities 16 266 16 088 17 859

30 Assets pledged as collateral or guarantee 
liabilities

Balance sheet 
AT 31 DESEMBER

Balance sheet

Erik Nygaard 
Chair of the Board of Directors

MaiLill Ibsen Heidi Larssen Lars Oust

Helge Skudal Trond Vernegg Knut Svensgård Tore Olaf Rimmereid
President and CEO

   

    
         

  

  
 

Oslo, 4 March 2013 
The Board of Directors of ECO Energi Holding AS
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Cash flow analysis  
1 JANUARy – 31 DECEMBER

Parent comPany GrouP

2011 2012 (Amounts in MNOK) 2012 2011 2010 

cash flow from oPeratinG actiVities

 780 551 Cash flow from operations* 1 262 1 301 1 607 

Changes in Group contribution recognised as income

2 250 350 and dividends from Group companies  0  0  0 

(168) (87) Changes in taxes payable (266) (321)  539 

Change in other receivables, creditors

 8 (98) and accrual items (101) (246)  52 

2 870  716 a cash flow from oPeratinG actiVities  895  734 2 198 

cash flow from inVestment actiVities

 0  0 Investments in tangible fixed assets (272) (296) (331)

 0  0 Acquisition of business activities  0  0 (237)

 270  270 Change in other investments 7  32 (19)

 270 270 b cash flow from inVestment actiVities (265) (264) (587)

cash flow from financinG actiVities

1 310  550 Increase in noncurrent liabilities  550 1 310  0 

(1 143) (307) Repayment of noncurrent liabilities (307) (1 143) (592)

(2 094) (244) Change in current liabilities  100  500 (500)

(2 800) (800) Dividend paid (800) (2 800) (800)

(4 727) (801) c cash flow from financinG actiVities (457) (2 133) (1 892)

(1 587)  185 a+b+c net cash flow for the year  173 (1 663) (281)

2 009  422 + liquidity reserve at 1 January  539 2 202 2 483 

 422  607 = liquidity reserve at 31 december **  712  539 2 202 

*This figure is derived as follows:

 777  550 Net profit for the year  910  943 1 200 

 0  0 + Depreciation  250  285  281 

 0  0 +/ Share of the profit, associates  2  0  2 

 3 1 +/ Change in deferred tax/tax asset 100  73  124 

 780 551 = cash flow from operating activities 1 262 1 301 1 607 

** Liquid reserves consist of bank deposits and the parent company’s short-term investments in money market funds.

Cash flow analysis
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General InformaTIon
The Board of Directors approved the 
consolidated financial statements for fiscal 
2012 at its meeting on 4 March 2013. ECO 
Energi AS is a private limited liability 
company headquartered in Oslo. All shares 
are owned by Oslo Municipality.

aCCounTInG PolICIeS
The accounts for 2012 are presented in 
accordance with the provisions of the 
Norwegian Accounting Act and generally 
accepted Norwegian accounting practices.

ConSolIdaTIon
Subsidiaries
The consolidated accounts show the 
aggregate financial results and financial 
position for parent company ECO Energi AS 
and its subsidiaries as a whole.

The consolidated accounts include the 
companies in which ECO Energi AS or its 
subsidiaries own more than 50 per cent of 
the shares and have controlling interest.

All significant transactions and intraGroup 
accounts have been eliminated. The 
acquisition price of shares in subsidiaries has 
been eliminated against equity in the 
subsidiary on the date of acquisition. Excess/
negative values are attributed to their 
corresponding balance sheet items. 

associates 
Companies in which the parent company or a 
subsidiary has significant influence, normally 
more than 20 per cent of the share capital, 
are recognised in the consolidated accounts 
by listing the relevant share of the associate’s 
profit/loss as a separate line item among the 
financial items on the income statement and 
adding it to the cost price on the balance 
sheet. Dividends received are booked as 
deductions in the balance sheet value.

Jointly controlled businesses
The ECO Energi Group cooperates with other 
companies on the development and operation 
of power plants. Cooperation takes place in two 
ways: jointly controlled companies and jointly 
controlled facilities. This is dealt with in the 
accounts using the proportionate consolidation 
method prescribed by the preliminary 
Norwegian Accounting Standard for Participa
tion in Jointly Controlled Activities.

Jointly controlled entities are companies 
organised as partnerships and limited 
liability companies based on an agreement 
that specifies joint control.

Partiallyowned entities generally refer to 
Vinstra Kraftselskap DA, Opplandskraft DA 
and Embretsfosskraftverkene DA. The 
coowners manage their proportional shares 
of the power production less deductions 
based on their obligations to supply licence 
power, etc. For accounting purposes, the 
proportional shares of the main profit and 
loss items have been incorporated into the 
corresponding items in the consolidated 
accounts. Percentages of current assets, 
current liabilities and noncurrent liabilities 
are recorded relative to the Group’s stake and 
are shown in Note 12.

Jointly controlled limited liability companies 
refer to Oppland Energi AS, in which a stake 
was acquired in 2001.

Jointly controlled facilities cover plants not 
established as separate, independent 
companies, but as integral parts of one of the 
owner companies’ production systems.  This 
company is responsible for daytoday plant 
operations, and is reimbursed by the other 
participants for their relative shares of 
operating expenses. Each participant 
contributes a relative share of the capital 
invested in tangible fixed assets as direct 
investments. The owners themselves have 
raised longterm debt, which the ECO 
Energi Group recognises in its total long
term liabilities. Note 12 provides a list of 
stakes in these assets.

recognition of Group contributions and 
dividends
Group contributions are recognised in the 
parent company accounts in the year in which 
they are made. The part of the Group 
contribution that represents retained earnings 
during the period of ownership is booked as 
income on investments in subsidiaries. Group 
contributions that do not represent retained 
earnings during the period of ownership are 
recorded as repayment of the investment and 
recognised as a reduction in the value of the 
shares in subsidiaries.

Dividends allocated in the subsidiaries are 
recognised as income in the year in which the 

dividend is allocated. Dividends paid by other 
companies are recognised as income in the 
year in which the dividends are received. 
Dividends that do not represent retained 
earnings during the period of ownership are 
recognised as repayment of the investment.

foreign currency
Power sales and financial trading in power 
derivatives generally take place in EUR. Spot 
sales of power are recognised in the accounts 
at the exchange rate on the date of invoicing. 
Settlements for financial trades are 
recognised in the accounts at the average 
exchange rate for the month. When hedging 
power sales, the realised profits or losses on 
the hedging instruments are recognised in 
tandem with the sales revenues. Other 
foreign currency transactions are recognised 
in the accounts at their transaction prices. 

Financial items in foreign currency are 
translated at the exchange rate on the date of 
balance sheet recognition. Loans denominated 
in foreign currency that are hedged against 
NOK through interest rate and currency swap 
agreements are recognised at the forward 
price of the currency hedge. Exchange losses 
or gains translated at the exchange rate on 
the date of balance sheet recognition are 
recognised as exchange gains or losses.

Contractual obligations, electricity
ECO Energi makes hedge transactions to 
guarantee the price level of future power 
production. Financial contracts are generally 
used for hedging a share of the power 
production. One prerequisite for considering 
hedging is that the hedging volume must be 
appropriate for our proprietary production 
capacity. The Group’s policy is that future 
power sales that are hedged in EUR are 
generally also hedged against changes in 
exchange rates by using currency derivatives. 
Unrealised gains/losses on power or 
currency derivatives used for hedging are not 
recognised on the balance sheet. Gains and 
losses related to hedging are booked upon 
delivery of the underlying hedged item.

The recognition of income
Consolidated operating revenues are mainly 
derived from the sale of power on the 
wholesale market. Revenue is recognised 
when the power has been delivered and the 
risk has been transferred to the buyer. 

Accounting policies

Accounting policies
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Revenues from renting out central grid 
components have been taken to income 
pursuant to the income parameters set by 
the Norwegian Water Resources and Energy 
Directorate (NVE). Sales of other goods or 
services are taken to income when the good 
or the service has been delivered and the 
risk has been conveyed to the buyer. Interest 
income is entered in the accounts as it is 
accrued.

Taxes
Deferred tax is calculated using the liability 
method on the temporary differences between 
the taxrelated and accountingrelated values 
of operating assets and liabilities, together 
with any loss carried forward. Resource rent 
tax is associated with the individual power 
plant. The tax rules for dealing with negative 
resource rent income were amended in 2007. 
Based on the new rules, carried forward 
negative resource rent income that arose prior 
to 2007 cannot be offset against payable 
resource rent tax in other power plants. 
Negative resource rent income that arose in 
2007 or later can be offset against positive 
resource rent income in other power plants. 
See Note 8 for a more detailed description. 
The natural resource tax can be used to 
reduce income tax, and natural resource tax 
that exceeds the year’s income tax is dealt 
with as a tax advance. Deferred tax assets that 
cannot be offset against deferred tax, 
including assets related to losses carried 
forward and negative resource rent income, 
are recognised on the balance sheet if it is 
highly probable that they will be realised.

When calculating deferred tax liability, the 
nominal tax rate is used for income tax and 
resource rent tax. 

Property tax
Property tax is classified as an operating 
cost and entered in the accounts in the same 
year as the tax is paid. See Note 4 for 
information on property tax. 

Periodic maintenance
Production facilities are subject to scheduled 
periodic maintenance at varying and relatively 
long intervals, based on previous status 
reports. Such maintenance is expensed 
during the year in which it is performed. 

Concessionary power
The Group is required to supply concession 
power at regulated prices that are usually 
lower than market prices. The delivery of the 
compulsory yield of power at actual prices is 
booked as operating revenue on an ongoing 
basis. 

Compensation
Annual watercourse development compen
sation to landowners is expensed on an 
ongoing basis. As a consequence of the 
Group’s licence terms, the compensation 
payments are fixed and independent of the 
power plants’ operations.

Watercourse rights
Perpetual watercourse rights are nonde
preciable. Impairment is taken as a result of 
any decrease in value that is not expected to 
be of a temporary nature. Impairment is 
reversed to the extent the reason for the 
impairment no longer exists.

Tangible fixed assets and depreciation
Tangible fixed assets are recognised on the 
balance sheet at cost. Cost price refers to 
purchased goods and services as well as to 
expenditures for own employees who have 
participated in the production of the asset. 
Replacements and enhancements of existing 
assets are recognised to the extent to which 
they offer future financial advantages. 
During the production period, assets are 
recognised on the balance sheet as plant 
under construction. Depreciation is made on 
a straightline basis over the expected useful 
economic life of the asset. Depreciation 
periods are listed in Note 11. The starting 
date for depreciation is the date of comple
tion. Impairment is taken as a result of any 
decrease in value that is not expected to be 
of a temporary nature. Impairment is 
reversed to the extent the reason for the 
impairment no longer exists.

long-term investments 
Longterm investments in shares in which 
the Group owns less than 20 per cent, 
longterm receivables, etc. classified as fixed 
assets are valued at acquisition cost. 
Impairment is taken in the event of a lasting 
reduction. Previous impairment is reversed 
to the extent the reason for the impairment 
no longer exists.

Short-term investments and receivables
Shortterm investments and receivables 
classified as current assets are measured at 
cost price or fair value, whichever is lower. 
For financial instruments sold on a market, 
the market value on the date of balance 
sheet recognition is used as the fair value. 

Pension liabilities
A straight line earning profile is used to 
account for pensions and assumptions are 
made regarding expected salary upon 
retirement. Actuarial gains/losses on 
pension expenses and plan adjustments are 
amortised over the expected remaining 
earning period to the extent that they exceed 
10 per cent of pension liabilities or pension 
fund assets (corridor), whichever is greater. 
The figures include the employer’s social 
security contributions.

loans 
Liabilities in foreign currencies are 
translated at the exchange rates that apply 
on the balance sheet date. Loans denomi
nated in foreign currency that are hedged 
against NOK through interest rate and 
currency swap agreements are recognised at 
the forward price of the currency hedge.  
In connection with interest rate hedging, 
interest instruments are recognised in an 
amount comparable to the interest on the 
underlying loan. Unrealised losses or gains 
are not recognised on the balance sheet. Any 
cessation of a hedging position prior to its 
due date is recognised as an accrued gain or 
loss over the remaining term of the hedge. 

other liabilities and debt
Other liabilities and debt are recognised on 
the balance sheet at their fair value.

Cash flow statement and cash and cash 
equivalents
The Group uses the indirect method for 
drawing up the cash flow statement. Cash 
and cash equivalents encompass cash 
reserves, bank deposits and the parent 
company’s investments in money market 
funds.

Accounting policies
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Notes to the accounts

Note 1. Operating revenues 

Parent comPany GrouP

2011 2012 (Amounts in MNOK) 2012 2011 2010 

0 0 Electricity revenue 3 100.7 3 381.4 3 931.6 

0 0 Concessionary power 88.5 80.0 73.4 

0 0 Transmission income 28.9 30.4 35.3 

3,0 3,1 Other operating revenue 33.3 22.3 35.8 

3,0 3,1 Total 3 251.4 3 514.1 4 076.1 

The power produced is generally sold on Nord Pool’s Spot market or through bilateral agreements at spot prices. Sales at spot prices 
aggregated MNOK 2 572 (2011: MNOK 3 250, 2010: MNOK 4 120). A substantial share of spot sales was hedged through financial instruments 
acquired at different times, cf. Note 31.

Concessionary power is taken to income at actual prices. Transmission income consists mainly of central grid income paid by Statnett. Other 
operating revenue consists, for example, of rental income , the sale of services, etc.

Note 2. Energy purchases, transmission 

GrouP

(Amounts in MNOK)

Fixed contracts* 47.2 45.5 44.2 

Transmission costs 116.2 110.7 100.1 

Total 163.4 156.2 144.3 

* Fixed contracts are discussed in more detail in Note 31.

Note 3. Salaries, remuneration and pension costs

Parent comPany GrouP

2011 2012 (Amounts in MNOK)

3,1 3,2 Salaries, fees, etc. 128.6 116.9 108.8 

0,5 0,5 Accrued social security expenses 14.8 13.3 12.4 

0,7 0,6 Pension expenses* 51.3 33.4 (22.6)

4,3 4,3 Total 194.7 163.6 98.6 

* See Note 23 for more details on pension expenses

1 Number of FTEs (fulltime equivalents) at 1 Jan. 2012 160

1 Number of FTEs (fulltime equivalents) at 31 Dec. 2012 163

1 Average number of FTEs 162
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remuneration to key management personnel 

(Amounts in NOK 1 000)

board of directors Periode honorarer

Erik Nygaard (Chair)* 01/01–31/12 196   

Ellen Christine Christiansen 01/11–30/4 38   

Heidi Larssen 01/05–31/12 75   

Trond Vernegg 01/01–31/12 113   

MaiLill Ibsen* 01/01–31/12 132   

Helge Skudal* 01/01–31/12 132   

Johan Kleivi 01/01–30/5 47   

Kåre Jan Sørheim 01/01–30/5 47   

Lars Oust 01/06–31/12 66   

Knut Svensgård 01/06–31/12 66   

total 912   

* Member of the Audit Committee

(Amounts in NOK 1 000)  
corporate management

wages and 
salaries

other 
remuneration bonus

Pension 
defined 

benefit plans

Pension defined 
contribution 

plans 

Tore Olaf Rimmereid 2 110   69   188   0   388   

Tore Kolstad 1 772   68   27   153   239   

PerArne Torbjørnsdal 1 387   178   128   190   123   

Torill Berdal 1 309   172   110   259   87   

Alf Inge Berget 1 471   255   138   235   148   

Stine Rolstad Brenna 1 583   50   105   0   219   

The amounts show bonuses for 2011, paid out in 2012.

President and CEO Tore Olaf Rimmereid has a bonus agreement with a ceiling of 15 per cent of his basic wage. The criteria for earning a
bonus are partly based on the same criteria as in the bonus scheme for all employees (see the following paragraph), partly associated with 
contributions to setting and achieving strategic objectives as well as the Board’s qualitative assessment of the CEO’s efforts in defined areas. 
The two main elements are, as a general principle, equally important.

The bonus paid to Tore Kolstad under the scheme that encompasses all employees of ECO Energi and is based on reaching defined, 
qualitative targets related to the company’s total value creation, as well as to important parameters relating to cost efficiency,
the power plants’ availability factor and actual selling prices. The criteria are designed to address factors that the company can influence. 
There is a ceiling on annual bonuses.

Other members of corporate management that are employed by ECO Energi have individual bonus agreements stipulated on the basis
of particular criteria, with a ceiling of 15 per cent of their basic wage. The schemes are based on the achievement of defined, quantitative 
goals related to the company’s total value creation and cost efficiency, as well as individual goals related to a particular manager’s sphere of 
responsibility. 

All bonuses for 2012 will be paid out in 2013.

If dismissed, the CEO is entitled to severance pay corresponding to 12 months of regular salary. Upon taking a new position or receiving 
other remuneration during the 12month period, the severance pay will be reduced, on a NOK for NOK basis, by the income from the new 
position.
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auditor’s fees

Parent comPany GrouP

2011 2012 (Amounts in NOK 1 000, excl. VAT) 2012 2011 2010 

287 299 Mandatory audit 891 885 861 

20 0 Other financial audits 19 37 239 

0 2 Attestation services 176 82 67 

48 20 Taxrelated assistance and other services 70 144 156 

355 321 Total 1 156 1 148 1 323 

Note 4.  Property tax and licence fee

GrouP

(Amounts in MNOK) 2012 2011 2010 

Property tax 163.2 147.5 146.7 

Licence fees 73.7 72.9 69.6 

Total 236.9 220.4 216.3 

Property tax is calculated on the basis of assessed values for taxation purposes. The tax rate is normally 0.7 per cent. New assessment
principles in accordance with §8 of the Property Tax Act were adopted for introduction as from 2001. In this connection the minimum
assessment value of NOK 1.10 per kWh was introduced, calculated on the basis of the natural resource tax, to ensure a revenue level. 
In 2003, the minimum rate was reduced to NOK 0.95 per kWh for property tax in 2004. In addition, a maximum rate of NOK 2.35 per kWh
was adopted. In 2011, the maximum rate increased to NOK 2.47 per kWh with an impact on property tax in 2012 and NOK 2.74 per kWh
for 2013. Property tax is entered in the accounts in the year in which it is paid.

Note 5. Other operating expenses

Parent comPany GrouP

2011 2012 (Amounts in MNOK) 2012 2011 2010 

0 0 Jointly controlled companies 44.2 39.8 52.0 

0 0 Compensation and misc. fees 26.6 31.6 32.9 

0 0 Insurance 7.7 6.8 6.9 

0 0 Own investment activities (10.6) (12.8) (18.3)

4,6 3,5 Other administrative and operating expenses 162.8 173.2 159.1 

4,6 3,5 Total 230.7 238.6 232.6 

Note 6. Financial income

Parent comPany GrouP

2011 2012 (Amounts in MNOK) 2012 2011 2010 

29,2 10,4 Interest income on bank deposits and securities 12.4 31.5 33.1 

70,1 45,6 Interest income from Group companies 0 0 0 

7,2 1,5 Capital gains from investments in unit trusts 2.1 8.4 7.5 

0 0 Currency exchange gains 0 8.8 0 

0 1,5 Other financial income 3.4 0.6 7.0 

106,5 59,0 Total 17.9 49.3 47.6 
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Note 7.  Financial expenses

Parent comPany GrouP

2011 2012 (Amounts in MNOK) 2012 2011 2010 

118,8 97,5 Interest on subordinated loan 97.5 118.8 133.9 

200,3 179,0 Interest expenses on other loans 179.0 200.3 184.6 

0 0 Capital losses on securities 0 1.7 0 

0 0 Writedown on shares classified as fixed assets and investments 0 0 2.7 

46,7 7,4 Group companies' interest expenses relating to the Group bank account 0 0 0 

0 0 Currency exchange losses 5.0 0 11.1 

5,0 6,9 Other financial expenses* 9.4 7.6 6.1 

370,8 290,8 Total 290.9 328.4 338.4 

* Other financial expenses comprise expenses associated with new loans, fees, interest expenses, unpaid taxes, etc.

Note 8. Taxes

Parent comPany GrouP

2011 2012 (Amounts in MNOK) 2012 2011 2010 

298.8 212.1 Income tax payable 506.8 594.4 730.1 

0 0 Resource rent tax payable 384.9 563.5 756.1 

0 0 Natural resource tax 126.0 123.4 120.9 

0 0 Natural resource tax offset against income tax (126.0) (123.4) (120.9)

3.5 1.3 Change in deferred tax 99.9 73.4 124.4 

0 0 Too little (much) tax set aside in previous years (1.8) (3.4) 0 

302.3 213.4 Tax expenses for the year 989.7 1 227.9 1 610.6 

The natural resource tax is calculated on the basis of average production over the past seven years, multiplied by the tax rate, which was 1.3 NOK/
kWh in 2012. The company can request that the natural resource tax be offset against assessed national income tax. In the event the natural resource 
tax for the year exceeds the assessed income tax, the excess and the interest on it may be carried forward to subsequent income years. Any carried 
forward natural resource tax is booked under current receivables on the balance sheet.

The resource rent tax is calculated on the basis of the year’s production compared with spot prices during the year. Hourly calculations are made for 
each individual power plant.  Deductions are made for operating expenses, including depreciation. A deduction is also given for nontaxable income, 
calculated on the basis of the average taxrelated value of production equipment. The calculation of nontaxable income is based on an interest rate 
comparable to the average interest rate on a 12month treasury bill.  For 2012, the interest rate on nontaxable income was 1.5 per cent. The resource 
rent tax is calculated separately for each power plant and can, after deductions, be negative for the individual power plant.  In 2007, the tax rules for 
processing negative resource rent income changed. According to the new rules, a distinction is to be made between carried forward negative resource 
rent income derived prior to 2007 (tax position 1) and negative resource rent income arising in 2007 or later (tax position 2).  Tax position 1 cannot be 
transferred to other power plants, and is reduced by any positive resource rent income for the power plant. Any remaining negative resource rent income 
is carried forward with additional interest comparable to the interest rate on nontaxable income plus 2 percentage points, reduced by the tax rate for 
ordinary income. Tax position 2 can be offset against positive resource rent income at other power plants, including any additional positive resource rent 
income from power plants that were in tax position 1 at the beginning of the year. Any remaining negative resource rent income is carried forward with 
the addition of interest comparable to the interest rate on nontaxable income without any markup, and reduced by the tax rate for ordinary income.  
All negative resource rent income in the Group that can be carried forward is related to tax position 1. The resource rent tax rate is 30 per cent.

reconciliation of the company’s tax rate

Parent comPany

2011 2012 (Amounts in MNOK)

302.3 213.9 28 per cent of earnings before tax

0.0 (0.5) 28 per cent of permanent differences

302.3 213.4 Tax expenses for the year
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Note 9. Deferred tax (deferred tax asset)

Parent comPany (Amounts in MNOK) GrouP

2011 2012 ordinary income tax 2012 2011 2010 

0 (0.2) Noncurrent assets 574.2 483.8 465.9 

(17.6) (13.5) Current liabilities (13.4) (12.9) (20.7)

0 0 Provisions for liabilities (18.3) (17.7) (17.5)

(7.9) (7.0) Pensions 340.6 338,4 312.2 

(25.5) (20.7) Total 883.1 791,6 739.9 

28% 28% Tax rate applied* 28%/22% 28%/22% 28%/22%

(7.1) (5.8) Total deferred tax (deferred tax asset) 216.9 191.2 176.6 

resource rent tax

Noncurrent assets 82.8 (9.4) (28.7)

Other temporary differences 294.5 293,8 264.3 

Negative resource rent income, incl. interest (1 889.6) (1 908.6) (1 969.0)

Total (1 512.3) (1 624.2) (1 733.4)

Tax rate applied 30% 30% 30%

Total deferred tax (deferred tax asset) (453.7) (487.2) (520.0)

Total ordinary tax (tax asset) and resource rent tax (236.8) (296.0) (343.4)

deferred tax (deferred tax asset) on the 
balance sheet:

0 0 Deferred tax 454.8 411.1 403.4 

(7.1) (5.8) Deferred tax asset recorded (258.4) (314.4) (379.8)

0 0 Unrecorded deferred tax asset (433.2) (392.7) (367.0)

* The tax rate applied to the Group deviates from 28 per cent. This is because of deferred tax on excess value related to the acquisition of the position in Oppland Energi. 
Gross excess value MNOK 495 (2011: 497; 2010: 499, deferred tax MNOK 108 (2011: MNOK 109; 2010: MNOK 109).

In connection with resource rent tax, the Group has  temporary differences and negative resource rent income that can be carried forward associated with the individual 
power plant. The estimated tax assets from negative resource rent income that has been carried forward are associated with the power plants expected to be able to 
exploit their tax positions within a 5-year period. .  

Note 10. Watercourse rights 

(Amounts in MNOK)

acquisition
cost 

 01/01/12 
additions 

2012 

book 
value 

12/31/12

Watercourse rights  power stations/regulation facilities 5 621.0 0.0 5 621.0 

Watercourse rights  jointly controlled companies 2 306.9 0.0 2 306.9 

Total intangible assets 7 927.9 0.0 7 927.9 

Waterfall rights are usually obtained in connection with acquisitions. Perpetual waterfall rights are non-depreciable. 
The Group’s waterfall rights are currently not subject to time limits.
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Note 11. Property, plant and equipment

(Amounts in MNOK)

acquisition 
cost 

12/31/12
additions 

2012
disposals 

2012
depreciation 

2012

acc. 
depreciation 

12/31/12

book  
value

12/31/12

Watercourse reg., hydropower installa
tions and power centres 6 528.2 63.4 0 (165.7) (2 936.5) 3 655.1 

Share of jointly controlled companies 3 827.1 70.9 (1.0) (71.3) (1 607.9) 2 289.1 

Central grid 268.0 0 0 (8.3) (132.6) 135.4 

Buildings 102.1 42.7 0 (2.3) (34.9) 109.9 

Telecommunications facilities 35.4 0 0 (1.5) (9.0) 26.4 

Vehicles and other equipment 41.9 1.5 (1.5) (0.9) (19.4) 22.5 

Plant under construction 230.7 129.4 (36.0) 0 0 324.1 

Total  11 033.4 307.9 (38.5) (250.0) (4 740.3) 6 562.5 

depreciation periods year

Watercourse regulation and structural 
engineering

50

Machinery 25–40

Electrical equipment 15–30

Buildings 50

Telecommunications facilities 4–15

Vehicles and other equipment 5–15
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Note 12.  Shares in jointly controlled entities

Jointly controlled limited liability company – Oppland Energi AS

(Amounts in MNOK)
owner  

interest 

recognised 
equity on 

acquisition 
net profit  

2012
net profit   

2011
net profit   

2010
equity

12/31/12
equity

01/31/11
equity

12/31/10

Oppland Energi AS 61.35% 2 071 105 176 444 1 287 1 181 1 006

oppland energi is incorporated into the consolidated accounts with the following amounts:

(Amounts in MNOK) 2012 2011 2010 

Balance sheet value at 1 January 1 112 1 004 1 653 

Capital reduction 0 0 (920)

Share of the profit 63 108 271 

Balance sheet value at 31 December 1 175 1 112 1 004 

lendinG to oPPland enerGi:

Lending to the company at 1 January 752 920 284 

Additions during the year 0 0 920 

Instalment payments during the year (71) (169) (284)

Lending to the company at 31 December 681 752 920 

sPecification of excess Value:

Excess value at 1 January 497 499 501 

Amortised on excess value during the year (2) (2) (2)

Excess value at 31 December* 495 497 499 

Deferred tax liability on excess value (108) (109) (109)

Excess value after tax at 31 December 387 388 390 

‘ The excess value on 31 December was linked to:

Waterfall rights 480 480 480 

Longterm power contracts 15 17 19 

Oppland Energi AS’ registered office is in Lillehammer.
ECO Energi’s share of the voting rights is the same as its shareholding, i.e. 61.35 per cent. Eidsiva Energi at Eidsiva Vannkraft AS owns the 
remaining 38.65 per cent. There is, however, a shareholder agreement between the owners that governs the exercise of ownership and 
where, according to the shareholders’ agreement, major decisions call for agreement between the owners and, on that basis, the owners 
have classified Oppland Energi as a jointly controlled entity.

In 2010, an extraordinary dividend was paid out and a reduction in equity was converted to loans from the company’s shareholders for a total 
of MNOK 1 500, divided proportionally according to stake, that is, MNOK 920.3 from ECO Energi AS and MNOK 579.7 from Eidsiva Vannkraft AS. 
The loan from the shareholders will run with 20 years to maturity. Interest on the loans will be the 3month Nibor + 85 basis points per annum.

Excess value applies to waterfall rights and a contract. The excess value on watercourse rights is not depreciated. The excess value on the 
contract is depreciated over 20 years from the date of acquisition.
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The Group’s share of Oppland Energi by main accounting category is as follows:

(Amounts in MNOK) 2012 2011 2010 

Operating revenues 329 448 565 

Operating expenses (142) (148) (143)

Operating profit 187 300 422 

Net financial expenses (23) (30) (8)

Profit before taxes 164 271 415 

Tax (101) (163) (144)

Net profit for the year 63 108 271 

Deferred tax asset 119 155 204 

Waterfall rights 480 480 480 

Property, plant and equipment 1 398 1 400 1 415 

Financial fixed assets 2 2 2 

Receivables 12 13 19 

Other financial instruments 10 40 94 

Bank deposits 66 54 94 

Total assets 2 087 2 144 2 308 

Provisions 144 145 145 

Current liabilities 87 135 239 

Total liabilities 231 280 384 

Jointly controlled companies
The Group’s interests, in accordance with its ownership stake, are included in the balance sheet as follows: 

(Amounts in MNOK)

company
stake

Vinstra 
kraftsel-
skap da 

66.7%

opplands-
kraft da

25.0%

embrets-
fosskraft-

verkene da
50.0%

uvdal i  
and ii*
10.0% total

Current assets 2012 12.9 12.8 135.8  161.5 

2011 10.6 18.2 108.8  137.6 

2010 9.4 15.0 36.4  60.8 

Noncurrent assets 2012 1 105.8 1 308.6 424.5 67.4 2 906.3 

2011 1 099.7 1 274.5 357.6 69.4 2 801.2 

2010 1 108.8 1 260.1 311.0 70.4 2 750.3 

Current liabilities 2012 2.6 6.4 24.0  33.0 

2011 4.2 9.3 25.7  39.2 

2010 5.2 9.8 5.0  20.0 

Provisions 2012 7.7 10.6 0  18.3 

2011 7.7 10.0 0  17.7 

2010 7.6 9.9 0  17.5 

* The share of assets and liabilities is insignificant and therefore not included in the accounts.

Vinstra Kraftselskap DA and Opplandskraft DA have their registered offices in Lillehammer. Embretsforsskraftverkene DA has its registered 
office in Drammen.
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Jointly controlled facilities  

Plant stake 2012

non-current 
assets 

2011 2010 other participants

MørkefossSolbergfoss plant* 66.7% 685.3 695.0 710.6 Statkraft SF

Aurland plants*/** 93.0% 4 040.8 4 123.2 4 231.0 Statkraft SF

Usta power plant*/*** 57.1% 886.2 895.5 886.6 Vardar, Akershus Energi

Nes power plant*/*** 57.1% 1 056.4 1 068.1 1 081.8 Vardar, Akershus Energi

Total 6 668.7 6 781.8 6 910.0 

   * Facilities for which the company bears operational responsibility, charging partners a relative share of operating expenses.
 ** The company can redeem a 7 per cent stake from Statkraft in 2029, provided notification is given 10 years in advance.
      The redemption price is stipulated by agreement between the parties, if necessary by valuation.
*** The 57.1 per cent interest refers to waterfall rights.

Jointly controlled facilities are recorded on the Group’s balance sheet as direct investments.

Note 13. Shares in subsidiaries

(Amounts in MNOK)

the 
company’s 

share 
capital

number  
of shares 

total

stake and 
voting 

interest
nominal 

value
book  
value

Group 
contribu-

tion dividend
total 

income

ECO Energi AS 3 000.0 3 000 000 100.0% 3 000.0 10 170.3 1 000.0 0 1 000.0 

Oslo Energi Holding AS 0.1 1 000 100.0% 0.1 0.1 0 0 0 

Total, parent company 10 170.4 1 000.0 0 1 000.0 

owned by subsidiaries:

Oslo Lysverker AS 200.0 200 000 100.0% 200.0 1 887.4 0 0 0 

Total owned by 
subsidiaries 1 887.4 0 0 0 

All subsidiaries have their registered offices in Oslo.

Note 14. Associates

(Amounts in MNOK)

stake and 
voting 

interest

cost  
price 

01/01/12

book  
value

01/01/12

invest-
ment 
2012

disposals 
2012

book 
equity on 

acquisition
date

book  
value

12/31/12

share of 
profit 
 2012

Norsk Grønnkraft AS Total 50.0 66.1 19.4 0 50.0 83.1 (2.4)

Total 50.0 66.1 19.4 0 50.0 83.1 (2.4)

Associated limited liability companies are dealt with the accounts using the equity method of accounting. 

Norsk Grønnkraft is owned by ECO Energi. Its registered office is in Oslo.
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Note 15. Loans to associated companies

In connection with a share issue in 2012, the remainder of a loan for MNOK 9.4 from ECO Energi to Norsk Grønnkraft AS was repaid.

Note 16.  Other longterm receivables and investments

Parent comPany GrouP

2011 2012 (Amounts in MNOK) 2012 2011 2010 

0 0 Longterm receivables jointly controlled companies 3.2 3.1 2.5 

0 0 Other longterm receivables 11.7 2.2 0 

0 0 Investments in shares and units* 5.4 1.9 2.8 

0 0 Pension fund assets** 378.6 374.7 348.2 

50.0 50.0 Equity and subordinated loan capital, ECO Energi Pension Fund 50.0 50.0 50.0 

50.0 50.0 Total 448.9 431.9 403.5 

* Shares and units: 

(Amounts in MNOK) stake book value

Hallingfisk AS 31.0%  0.8 

NorthConnect AS 16.7%  0.5 

NorthConnect KS 16.7%  4.1 

Total  5.4 

All shares and units are owned by ECO Energi AS.

** For more details, see Note 23 on pension fund assets

Note 17.  Receivables that mature in more than one year

Parent comPany GrouP

2011 2012 (Amounts in MNOK) 2012 2011 2010 

1 797.6 1 527.6 Loans to subsidiaries 0 0 0 

0 0 Loans to associates 0 9.5 10.0 

1 797.6 1 527.6 Total 0 9.5 10.0 

Note 18. Accounts receivable

GrouP

(Amounts in MNOK) 2012 2011 2010 

Accounts receivable 86.4 56.9 83.6

Provision for bad debts 0 0 0 

Total 86.4 56.9 83.6

The bulk of accounts receivable is linked to the sale of power on the spot and futures markets. The variations are, among other things,
related to the spot price.
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Note 19. Other current receivables

Parent comPany GrouP

2011 2012 (Amounts in MNOK) 2012 2011 2010 

0.2 0.2 Other accruals 15.5 23.9 118.8 

0 0 Share of current assets in jointly controlled companies 161.5 137.6 60.8 

0 0 Other loans 0 0 2.2 

1 350.0 1 000.0 Group contribution 0 0 0 

84.4 153.2 Other intraGroup items 0 0 0 

1 434.6 1 153.4 Total 177.0 161.5 181.8 

Note 20. Shortterm investments 

(Amounts in MNOK)
cost  

value
market 

value
book 

 value

Share of investments Oppland Energi  10.3  10.3  10.3 

Money market funds 401.5 401.5 401.5 

Total at 31 Dec.2012  411.8  411.8  411.8 

Shortterm investments are valued at the lower of acquisition cost or fair value on the date of balance sheet recognition. The portfolio has a 
term of 0.2 years.

Investments in jointly controlled entities refer to the pro rata share of Oppland Energi’s investments of its own liquidity. The portfolio consists 
of investments in unit trusts and outsourced active financial management services that invest in interestbearing papers issued by state, 
municipal and financial institutions. 

Note 21. Bank deposits, cash in hand, etc.

ECO Energi has a group account in which the subsidiaries participate. ECO Energi Holding AS is the account holder and the subsidiaries 
are jointly and severally liable for withdrawals from the corporate account.  The total balance in the corporate account is recorded on the 
parent company’s balance sheet. Subsidiaries’ deposits or withdrawals are recorded in the parent company’s accounts as liabilities to or 
receivables from companies in the same Group. Other restricted deposits consist of deposits in restricted accounts furnished as collateral 
for energy trading.

restricted bank deposits

Parent comPany GrouP

2011 2012 (Amounts in MNOK) 2012 2011 2010 

1.3 1.3 Withholding tax  11.0 10.8 9.3 

0 0 Other restricted deposits 37.0 67.9 66.7 

1.3 1.3 Total 47.9 78.7 76.0 

Notes to the accounts



41E-CO Energi  // Annual Report 2012

Note 22. Equity 

(Amounts in MNOK) 
Parent comPany

number of 
shares share capital

share 
premium fund

other  
equity capital

total  
equity capital

Equity, 31 Dec. 2009 1 702 642 1 702.6 1 903.4 446.5 4 052.5

Net profit for the year 2 859.5 2 859.5

Provision for dividends (2 800.0) (2 800.0)

Equity, 31 Dec. 2010 1 702 642 1 702.6 1 903.4 506.0 4 112.0

Net profit for the year 777.2 777.2

Provision for dividends (800.0) (800.0)

Equity, 31 Dec. 2011 1 702 642 1 702.6 1 903.4 483.2 4 089.2

Net profit for the year 550.2 550.2

Provision for dividends (750.0) (750.0)

Equity, 31 Dec. 2011 1 702 642 1 702.6 1 903.4 283.4 3 889.4

Each share has a nominal value of NOK 1 000. The municipality of Oslo owns all the shares.

(Amounts in MNOK) 
GrouP

number of 
shares share capital

share 
premium fund

other  
equity capital

total  
equity capital

Total equity at 31 Dec. 2009 1 702 642 1 702.6 1 903.4 3 655.4 7 261.4

Net profit for the year 1 200.0 1 200.0

Provision for dividends (2 800.0) (2 800.0)

Total equity at 31 Dec. 2010 1 702 642 1 702.6 1 903.4 2 055.4 5 661.4

Net profit for the year 943.0 943.0

Provision for dividends (800.0) (800.0)

Total equity at 31 Dec. 2011 1 702 642 1 702.6 1 903.4 2 198.4 5 804.4

Net profit for the year 910.0 910.0

Provision for dividends (750.0) (750.0)

Total equity at 31 Dec. 2012 1 702 642 1 702.6 1 903.4 2 358.4 5 964.4

Note 23. Pension expenses and pension liabilities

The Group has a collective defined benefit pension plan that covers individuals hired prior to 1 Jan. 2009. The plan is funded through the 
ECO Energi Pension Fund. At 31 Dec. 2012, the pension scheme covered ECO Energi AS and ECO Energi Holding AS. A defined contribu
tion plan has been set up for employees hired after 1 January 2009. The contrubutions made for retirement pensions comply with the Act’s 
maximum rates, and the scheme grants approximately the same rights in terms of disability pensions and survivor’s benefits as the defined 
benefit scheme.

The Group’s pension plans satisfy the statutory requirements in the Act relating to Obligatory Service Pensions.

The defined benefit scheme entitles employees to a pension on reaching age 67. The pension consists of 66 per cent of an employee’s pay up 
to 12 times the basic amount under the National Insurance Scheme based on full accrual of pension rights.  The figure is 70 per cent of their 
salary for individuals hired prior to 31 May 2002. Pension benefits are reconciled with benefits from the National Insurance Scheme.  Full 
accrual is based on a minimum of 30 years. In addition to a retirement pension, employees are entitled to disability pensions and survivor’s 
benefits.  In addition to the funded scheme, the company has unfunded schemes, generally related to early retirement schemes (AFP and 
others). Supplementary pensions are provided through a depositbased scheme for those with salaries in excess of 12 times the National 
Insurance Scheme’s basic amount.

At 31 Dec. 2012, the pension scheme covered 122 employees in the Group , as well as 562 pensioners and former employees, including  
4 pensioners under the early retirement scheme and 2 individuals with agreements for other early retirement pensions.  The contribution
based scheme covers 42 individuals.
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Pension expenses and pension liabilities are calculated on the basis of actuarial tables. Pension liabilities are estimated on the basis of the 
assumptions made on the date of balance sheet recognition. Pension fund assets are estimated at their fair value on the balance sheet date. 
The effect of changes in the estimates are recognised according to the  “corridor method of accounting” (see the accounting policies for 
more details.) The yield on pension fund assets was 8.7 per cent in 2012.

(Amounts in MNOK) funded schemes unfunded schemes all schemes

Parent comPany 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 

Pension exPenses

Service cost 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Interest cost on pension liabilities 0.1 0.1 0.3 0.3 0.4 0.4 

Projected yield on pension fund assets (0.1) (0.1) 0 0 (0.1) (0.1)

Social security expenses 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Net pension cost benefit plans 0 0 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 

Net pension cost contribution plans 0.4 0.4 

Net pension expenses 0 0 0.3 0.3 0.7 0.7 

(Amounts in MNOK) funded schemes unfunded schemes all schemes

Parent comPany 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 

Pension liabilities

Estimated pension liabilities 2.9 3.1 6.3 7.1 9.2 10.2 

Estimated value of pension fund assets (3.1) (3.0) 0 0 (3.1) (3.0)

Unrecorded estimated loss/gain 0.3 0.1 0.6 0.7 0.9 0.8 

Pension liabilities on balance sheet 
(pension fund assets) 0.1 0.2 6.9 7.8 7.0 8.0 

(Amounts in MNOK) funded schemes unfunded schemes all schemes

GrouP 2012 2011 2010 2012 2011 2010 2012 2011 2010 

Pension exPenses

Service cost 12.2 9.9 9.8 1.5 1.3 1.2 13.8 11.2 11.0 

Interest cost on pension liabilities 30.9 31.8 33.2 1.9 1.9 2.4 32.7 33.7 35.6 

Projected yield on pension fund assets (40.4) (44.0) (45.5) 0 0 0 (40.4) (44.0) (45.5)

Accrued social security expenses 5.1 5.7 5.4 0.2 1.3 1.5 5.3 7.0 6.9 

Plan change amortisation 0 0.9 (49.4) 0 0 0 0 0.9 (49.4)

Amortisation of estimated loss/gain 36.2 22.3 17.0 1.1 0 0 37.3 22.3 17.0 

Net pension cost benefit plans 44.0 26.6 (29.5) 4.7 4.5 5.1 48.6 31.1 (24.4)

Net pension cost contribution plans 2.7 2.4 1.8 

Net pension expenses 44.0 26.6 (29.5) 4.7 4.5 5.1 51.3 33.5 (22.6)

(Amounts in MNOK) funded schemes unfunded schemes all schemes

GrouP 2012 2011 2010 2012 2011 2010 2012 2011 2010 

Pension liabilities

Estimated pension liabilities 721.7 806.8 708.5 45.0 45.0 43.3 766.7 851.8 751.8 

Estimated value of pension fund assets (844.3) (785.2) (758.9) 0 0 0 (844.3) (785.2) (758.9)

Unrecorded estimated loss/gain (256.0) (396.1) (297.8) (6.9) (9.0) (7.6) (262.9) (405.1) (305.4)

Pension liabilities on balance sheet 
(pension fund assets) (378.6) (374.5) (348.2) 38.1 36.0 35.7 (340.5) (338.5) (312.5)
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The calculation of pension liabilities is based on the following assumptions: 

2012 2011 2010 

Discount rate 4.2% 3.9% 4.6%

Projected yield 4.6% 5.1% 5.7%

Salary scale increase 3.5% 4.0% 4.0%

Adjustment of retirement pension during 
payout period 2.3% 3.0% 3.0%

Other adjustment of pensions 3.0% 3.8% 3.8%

Propensity to take early retirement 30% 30% 30%

Other actuarial assumptions are based on what is normal in the insurance industry with regard to demographic factors and attrition.

Note 24.  Other provisions

(Amounts in MNOK)

book  
value 

01/01/12
Provision

2012

applied 
settlement

2012

Provision 
reversal 

 2012

book  
value 

12/31/12

Longterm power contracts* 14.2 0 (2.9) 2.0 13.3 

Obligation regarding an outsourcing agreement** 39.7 1.4 0 0 41.1 

Deferred income recognition*** 2.4 0 0 0 2.4 

Total 56.3 1.4 (2.9) 2.0 56.8 

   *     The liability is related to a long-term power contract involving Oppland Energi. Upon signing, the company received an advance payment that was booked 
as a liability in the accounts. The liability is offset directly against withdrawals of power pursuant to the agreement. In connection with the Group’s 
acquisition of a larger stake in Oppland Energi, the contract was assigned an added value that is netted against the liability. The added value is reversed/
depreciated over a 20-year period.

* *     Upon transferring operations and employees in Oppland Energi and Vannkraft Øst to Eidsiva Vannkraft AS, it was established by contract that Oppland 
Energi AS, Opplandskraft DA and Vinstra Kraftselskap DA are obligated to cover employee pension rights. The cost of this will be invoiced through the 
outsourcing agreement with Eidsiva Vannkraft. It was agreed that the transfer would be considered to be an agreement regarding a transfer of ownership 
of an undertaking pursuant to the Working Environment Act. Upon termination of the agreement, the companies are obligated to assume responsibility for 
those individuals who are associated with the undertakings’ businesses at the time of the transfer, as well as for pensioners previously employed by  
Oppland Energi and Opplandskraft. The provision applies to pension liabilities ensuing from these employment relationships, where the charges will 
either take place on an ongoing basis through the outsourcing agreement or be assumed directly in connection with the termination, if any, of the agree-
ment. The liability is estimated as the difference between pension plan assets and pension liabilities plus social security contributions on the date of 
balance sheet recognition in Eidsiva Vannkraft.

* **    In connection with the transfer of power plants from E-CO Energi AS to Norsk Grønnkraft AS when the latter company was founded, an accounting gain 
was recognised by E-CO Energi AS. The recognition of income on the gain relative to E-CO. Energi’s stake has been deferred.

         The liability of MNOK 418 on the parent company’s balance sheet refers to deferred income recognition of the gain on the sale ofshares in Oslo Lysverker 
to E-CO Energi.
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Note 25.  Short and longterm liabilities

Lender
currency 

unit

amount  
(in foreign 
currency)

amount 
(nok) due date

InterGroup debt related to the Group bank account NOK 653   

Private placement on the Japanese market JPy 3 000 178   2013 

Commercial paper on the Norwegian market NOK 600   2013 

Private placement on the US market USD 75 465   2014 

Private placement on the Japanese market JPy 5 000 289   2015 

Private placement on the Japanese market JPy 3 000 172   2015 

Private placement on the US market USD 65 403   2016 

Bond loan on the Norwegian market NOK 500   2018 

Bond loan on the Norwegian market NOK 100   2019 

Private placement on the US market USD 50 310   2019 

Bond loan on the Norwegian market NOK 250   2022 

Private placement on the US market USD 75 430   2023 

Private placement on the US market USD 25 143   2026 

Den Nordiske Investeringsbank NOK 300   2027 

Private placement on the German market EUR 30 237   2031 

Total, parent company 5 030   

Current share, parent company 0   

Noncurrent share, parent company 5 030   

 IntraGroup debt (653)

Total, Group 4 377   

Current share, Group 0   

Noncurrent share, Group 4 377   

Loans denominated in foreign currency are hedged against NOK by entering into interest rate and currency swap agreements with fixed or floating 
interest rates in NOK. All non-current loans are interest-only until their due dates.

The average interest rate on the Group’s loan portfolio at 31 Dec. 2012 was 4.1 per cent (31 Dec. 2011: 4.4 per cent).

At 31 Dec. 2012, the duration on the Group’s  loan portfolio (except subordinated loans) was 2.6 years (31 Dec. 2011: 2.7 years), and the loan  
portfolio’s average term to maturity at 31 Dec. 2012 was 6.3 years (31 Dec. 2011: 6.5 years)

In June 2011, the company established a credit facility of NOK 2.0 billion. The credit facility will continue to apply for five years with an option 
to extend for 2 years. At 31 Dec. 2012, the facility was undrawn. Current liabilities within the parameters of undrawn part of the credit facility, 
MNOK 1 804 for the parent company and MNOK 778 for the Group, are classified as non-current liabilities on the balance sheet at 31 Dec. 
2011.

debt portfolio by instruments and currencies

(Amounts in MNOK) nok JPy usd eur

Commercial papers 600 

Bond loan 1 150 

Bank loans/other longterm loans 11 000 290 30 

Interest rate and currency swap agreements 2 627 (11 000) (290) (30)

Gross interestbearing liabilities 4 377 0 0 0 
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Interest rate exposure, debt portfolio

(Amounts in MNOK)
less than 1 

year 1–2 years 2–3 years 3–5 years 5–10 years total

Gross interestbearing liabilities 2 739 289 403 660 286 4 377

fair value, currency and interest hedging instruments

(Amounts in MNOK) 31/12/12 31/12/11 31/12/10

Interest rate and currency swap agreements 172 340 310

Interest hedging instruments 21 53 (59)

Total 193 393 251 

maturity structure, debt portfolio

31 December 2012:

(Amounts in MNOK)
balance 

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017
after  
2017

Commercial papers 600 600

Bond loan 850 850

Bank loans/other longterm loans 2 927 178 465 461 403 0 1 420

Total 4 377 778 465 461 403 0 2 270

31 December 2011:

(Amounts in MNOK)
balance 

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017
after  
2017

Commercial papers 500 500

Bond loan  600 600

Bank loans/other longterm loans 2 934 307 178 465 461 403 1 120

Total 4 034 807 178 465 461 403 1 720

The Group’s loan agreements include negative pledge clauses that prevent individual lenders from obtaining higher priority than others by 
way of liens. Further, all the Group’s loan contracts contain an ownership clause stating that in the event Oslo Municipality’s ownership 
interest drops to less than 50.1 per cent, the lender is entitled to call in the loans.

Note 26. Subordinated loan

The subordinated loan from the City of Oslo amounts to MNOK 3 347

The interest rate on the loan is the average of the past three years’ government bondrate with 10 years remaining to maturity, and with no 
markup. Interest falls due for payment once a year in connection with the adoption of the company’s accounts. Interest is performance
linked and shall, in the event the company’s accounts show a loss after having been charged with interest, be reduced by the amount of the 
loss or to 0. The reduction is final and the interest amount shall not be paid at a later date.

For 2012, the interest rate was 2.9 per cent.

The loan is interestonly and has been irrevocable on the part of the lender until the due date on 31 Dec. 2022 since 2010, when Oslo 
Municipality extended the term to maturity by five years. 
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Note 27.  Other current liabilities

Parent comPany GrouP

2011 2012 (Amounts in MNOK) 2012 2011 2010 

140.3 117.0 Accrued interest 117.0 140.3 162.4 

0 0 Current liabilities, jointly controlled companies 33.0 39.2 20.0 

20.5 13.7 Other current liabilities 29.2 44.5 168.7 

0 1.1 IntraGroup accounts 0 0 0 

160.8 131.8 Total 179.2 224.1 351.1 

Note 28. Earnings per share

Earnings per share are calculated as the majority’s share of the annual profit divided by the timeweighted average number of shares. At 31 
Dec, there were 1 702 642 shares in 2010,  2011 and 2012.

Note 29. Related party disclosures

The City of Oslo owns 100 per cent of the shares in ECO Energi Holding AS. The subordinated loan from the City of Oslo amounts to  
MNOK 3 347. Interest on the loan amounted to MNOK 98 in 2012.

ECO Energi Holding AS owns 100 per cent of ECO Energi AS, see Note 13. ECO Energi Holding AS has extended a longterm loan to  
ECO Energi AS. At 31 Dec. 2012, the balance on the loan was MNOK 1 798, of which MNOK 270 will fall due in 2013.

ECO Energi owns a stake in an associate, Norsk Grønnkraft AS, see Note 14 and Note 15. 

ECO Energi owns a stake in an associate, Oppland Energi AS, see Note 12. In addition, ECO Energi AS and Oslo Lysverker AS participate  
in several partiallyowned entities and jointly controlled facilities. Note 12 offers a list of these.

The ECO Energi Group has no close relationship to other enterprises or businesses than those described above. Entities owned directly 
or indirectly by Oslo Municipality are not considered related parties.

Transactions with closely related parties have been carried out on market terms pursuant to the arm’s length principle.

Note 30. Assets pledged as collateral or guarantee liabilities

ECO Energi Holding AS has furnished no collateral for mortgages and has no  guarantee liabilities. 

The other companies in the Group have not furnished collateral for mortgages or issued guarantees.

The companies are required to deposit funds in restricted bank accounts as collateral for energy trading. The balance in the deposit 
accounts will vary, depending on the company’s exposure and market volatility.
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Note 31. Contracts and financial derivatives

For information on financial derivatives associated with currency hedging of borrowing as well as interest rate hedging, see Note 25.

The Group has certain physical purchase and sales obligations associated with power production. Further, financial hedging is used for 
future power production, including currency hedging from EUR to NOK. To that end, derivatives are used, generally forwards and options. 
Physical contracts and financial instruments used as hedges are recognised in the accounts at cost price on the balance sheet. Recognition 
takes place upon delivery for physical contracts and upon delivery of the underlying hedged item for hedging contracts. Derivatives that do 
not qualify for hedging are booked at fair value or cost price, whichever is lower, on the balance sheet with the change in value on the 
income statement.

Physical contracts or obligations
The Group has a ‘perpetual’ purchase contract for 175.2 GWh per year through Oslo Lysverker AS from Hafslund Produksjon AS. The price is 
adjusted annually based on the consumer price index. In 2012, the price was NOK 0.153 per kWh.

Physical sales contracts generally refer to concessionary power, accounting for about 700 GWh per year for the Group. Concession power is 
power that the companies are required to sell at a regulated price in the licence to develop the waterfall, and it is taken into account when 
assessing the value of the power plants.

financial derivatives associated with hedging
The Group has entered into financial sales contracts whose purpose is to hedge future earnings derived from power production. In the
main, forward contracts are used. These contracts are calculated against the system price. Since the Group obtains the area price
(generally the NO1/Oslo price) on the physical sale, the hedge may be less effective when there are deviations between the area price
and the system price. To a certain extent, the Group therefore uses CfDs (Contracts for Difference)to hedge against such price variance.
CfDs are traded on the commodity derivatives exchange, but there is relatively poor liquidity in these contracts, which have a limiting
effect on the extent to which the Group finds it useful to take advantage of them. For currency hedging in NOK, the Group uses forwards
and options.

Since the resource rent tax is calculated on the basis of the spot price, the degree of hedging of expected cash flow is higher than the
hedging ratio estimated on the basis of production. For power production with positive resource rent income for all power plants, 100
per cent hedging of the cash flow after tax will be comparable to a hedging ratio of 58.3 per cent of production. Full hedging of the cash
flow would therefore entail a hedging ratio for production varying from 58.3 per cent to 100 per cent. The Group takes this into account
in its hedging strategy.

At 31 Dec. 2012, the Group had hedged 5 292 GWh for the years 2013  2015 using forwards. In monetary terms, the hedged power revenues 
are MEUR 224 for the same period of time. The hedged cash flows in EUR are also hedged against NOK/EUR exchange rate fluctuations. 

Compared with market prices on forward contracts, there may be unrealised gains or losses related to the contracts. Given the Group’s 
established accounting principles and based on an evaluation of its contract portfolio, there are no requirements for provisions for potential 
future losses. The portfolio had an unrealised, unrecognised positive value of MNOK 250, including currency hedging contracts, at year end, 
compared with a positive value of MNOK 353 at 31 December 2011.

financial derivatives that are not hedged
The Group has relatively little trading activity with power derivatives, and this has been organised into a separate, cleared portfolio with
separate authorisation, control and reporting routines. The portfolio is not hedged against exchange rate fluctuations.
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Note 32. Information on power production

The company’s licences are perpetual, assuming 2/3 public ownership.

The terms of the licences can be revised after 50 years. This has resulted in the municipalities of Hol and Ål requesting a revision of the Hol 
regulation from 1948, affecting most of the issues covered by the regulation. The Norwegian Water Resources and Energy Directorate (NVE) 
is considering the matter.  Further, in autumn 2011, NVE allowed for the possibility of revising the licencing terms for the Hemsil regulation 
project. UsteNes can be accepted for revision now and the Aurland regulation project in 2019.

All controls and inspections of dams and regulation facilities are carried out in accordance with the standards laid down by the authorities. 
All dams are inspected in accordance with a predefined inspection programme. Major inspections are conducted by independent parties 
and consist of a detailed visual examination of the dam and a review of the documentation and inspection routines. Reassessment takes 
place in compliance with the authorities’ requirements, that is, they are conducted by certified independent experts, and the entire structural 
designed is checked again and compared with current regulations. Documentation and written reports are required by NVE.

Under the terms of the licences, the companies must pay annual compensation to landowners in addition to a licence fee. Furthermore, the 
companies are required to supply concessionary power at cost or prices determined by the Storting, as well as gratuitous power. In 2012, 
concessionrelated costs aggregated approximately MNOK 100. This amount does not include the difference between the fair value and the 
actual value of the concession power. Concessionrelated expenses are recognised in the accounts continuously, so no provisions have been 
made for future expenses.

In connection with the power plant Øvre Vinstra, owned by Opplandskraft DA, Opplandskraft DA owns 50 per cent of the waterfall rights used 
in power production. The remaining waterfall rights are leased from Statskog. The lease fee is regulated in a contract between Opplands
kraft DA and Statskog (then the State represented by the Ministry of Agriculture) dated 7 September 1955. The agreement has a term of 80 
years, and will continue to apply, according to its wording, until 2035. 

reservoir storage

(GWh) 2012 2011 2010 

Reservoir storage at 31 Dec., incl. jointly controlled entities 4 179 4 997 3 224

Note 33. Market risk and insurance coverage

Power prices
The Group’s main activity is the production of electric power that is sold on the wholesale market. Prices in the power market are extremely 
volatile and are affected, inter alia, by factors that vary naturally and that are far from predictable, e.g. precipitation and temperature. The 
Group’s risk management is related to the exploitation of the water resources in reservoirs and the entry into physical and financial 
contracts. A strategy, systems and reporting routines have been established for the overall risk management of power production. Risk 
management includes specific ceilings and floors for price hedging in future time intervals, and the reporting of the anticipated approximate 
outcome intervals for the financial result. In accordance with the established risk strategy and criteria for risk management, the Group 
hedges anticipated future power production using financial instruments. The instruments used are bilateral price hedging contracts,
futures, forward contracts, Contracts for Difference and options.  In the shorter term, a considerable share of anticipated power production 
is hedged. The Group’s contract and hedging position is discussed in more detail in Note 31.

Interest rate risk
Balanced management of fixed and floating rates aims at reducing the interest rate risk. There is no obvious correlation between the 
interest rate level and prices on the power market. At 31 Dec. 2012, the duration of the loan portfolio (excluding the subordinated loan) was 
2,6  years and the average interest rate was 4.1 per cent.

liquidity risk
The Group assumes a liquidity risk because revenues and disbursements do not take place simultaneously. To reduce this risk, the Group 
has a liquidity reserve in the form of bank deposits and money market funds. Further, as extra protection against turbulent financial markets 
and the possible disappearance of certain sources of funding, the Group has established an ordinary credit line of MNOK 100 with the bank 
(undrawn) and a credit facility of NOK 2.0 billion. The facility applies for 5 years from June 2011, with the option for a 2year extension.
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foreign currency risk  
Loans denominated in foreign currency are hedged against NOK by entering into interest rate and currency swap agreements. The Group 
has no significant receivables or investments in foreign currency. 

The Nordic power markets use the Euro (EUR) as their trading and clearing currency. This means that the Group earns all its energy 
revenues from physical and financial trading in EUR. The Group’s expenses are generally in NOK. The Group uses currency forwards and 
currency option contracts to reduce/hedge against the consequences of a lack of correspondence between foreign currency earnings and 
expenses in NOK. Pursuant to the established risk strategy and criteria for risk management, the currency hedging strategy shall insofar as 
possible adhere to the strategy adopted for hedging power production. The timeline for hedging currency is limited to three years ahead in 
time. Currency hedging is to be undertaken for future power sales that are secured by power derivatives with a specific, defined possibility 
for deviating from this.

Credit risk  
The credit risk inherent in the Group’s actual commitments is monitored continuously. When new obligations are undertaken, the other 
party’s financial strength will be considered. The other parties to contracts with the Group are generally major players in the power industry, 
Nord Pool Spot, NASDAQ OMx Commodities and financial institutions. 

Through hedging transactions in interest rate and currency derivatives, the company incurs counterparty risk. This credit risk is limited 
through diversification and by defining a lower limit for approved counterparts’ creditworthiness (represented by an official ”credit rating”). 
Upper limits are also placed on overall credit exposure through derivative positions in respect of the individual counterpart. ECO Energi has 
signed agreements that allow setoffs of gains against losses with all counterparts in financial derivatives (ISDA agreements). All trade in 
power derivatives is settled through NASDAQ OMx Commodities.

Insurance coverage
The Group’s insurance coverage is primarily associated with production activities. Power production is a capitalintensive undertaking, and 
repairs and improvements can be expensive. Further, there is risk related to the loss of power production in the event of outages, and 
damage to thirdparty interests if a dam were to fracture. The Group has insurance against these three types of risk. In the case of own 
power plants, the most important terms applicable from 1 Jan 2013 are:

• Damage to the power plants: Fullcoverage insurance with a deductible of MNOK 4 per insurance incident and a “stop loss” of MNOK 6 
per year.

• Consequential loss: Fullcoverage insurance. The first seven days are not covered. The maximum  compensation period is 18 months with 
the exception of Aurland 1 which has 24 months.

• Dam liability insurance: The insurance sum is MNOK 2 000. There is a deductible of MNOK 1 per insurance incident (dam fracture) for 
injuries to third parties or thirdparty property. In addition, a company and product liability policy has been signed for up to MNOK 100 per 
incident and per year that covers liability beyond dam fracture.

Jointly controlled activities have similar insurance programmes of their own.

Pension risk
Pension risk is comprised of actuarial risk and financial risk. Actuarial risk involves the possibility that pension liabilities can develop in a 
manner different from what has been forecast. The actuarial assumptions that underlie the calculation of pension obligations are explained 
in more detail in Note 23. The financial part of pension risk involves pension funds generating a lower yield than projected. The Group’s 
pension plans are generally secured in its own pension fund.  Over time, it is the yield on pension fund assets that will determine how the 
Group’s pension expenses will develop. The pension fund’s asset management complies with statutory requirements. 
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Member of the Norwegian Institute of Public
Accountants

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of E-CO Energi Holding AS, comprising the

financial statements for the Parent Company and the Group. The financial statements for the Parent
Company and the Group comprise the balance sheet as at 31 December 2012, the statements of

income and cash flows for the year then ended and a summary of significant accounting policies and
other explanatory information.

The Board of Directors' and Chief Executive Officer's responsibility for the financial statements

The Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer are responsible for the preparation and fair

presentation of these financial statements in accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and
accounting standards and practices generally accepted in Norway, and for such internal control as the
Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer determine is necessary to enable the preparation of

financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We

conducted our audit in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices

generally accepted in Norway, including International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require

that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable

assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures

in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the

assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or

error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's

preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that

are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the

effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of

accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as

well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for

our audit opinion on the financial statements for the Parent Company and the Group.

A mernl;er finn of Fnist & Youny Global Lurtited
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Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements of E-CO Energi Holding AS have been prepared in accordance
with laws and regulations and present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Parent
Company and the Group as of 31 December 2012 and their financial performance and cash flows for

the year then ended in accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and accounting standards and
practices generally accepted in Norway.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Opinion on the Board of Directors' report

Based on our audit of the financial statements as described above, it is our opinion that the information

presented in the Directors' report concerning the financial statements, the going concern assumption

and the proposal for the allocation of the result is consistent with the financial statements and complies

with the law and regulations.

Opinion on registration and documentation

Based on our audit of the financial statements as described above, and control procedures we have

considered necessary in accordance with the international standard on assurance engagements

(ISAE) 3000, «Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial

Information», it is our opinion that the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer have fulfilled their

duty to ensure that the Company's accounting information is properly recorded and documented as

required by law and generally accepted bookkeeping practice in Norway.

Oslo, 6 March 2013
ERNST &YOUNG AS

Finn Espen Sellæg

State Authorised Public Accountant (Norway)

(This translation from Norwegian has been made for information purposes only.)



52 Statement pursuant to §5-5 of  
Norway’s Securities Trading Act

The directors and the president and Ceo issue the following statement:

• The financial statements for 2012 have, to the best of our knowledge, been drawn up in accordance with Norwegian accounting standards, 
and the information disclosed gives a true picture of the enterprise’s and the Group’s assets, liabilities, financial position and net profit as 
a whole. 

• To the best of our knowledge, the Director’s Report for 2012 gives a true picture of the development, profit and position of the enterprise 
and the Group, along with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties the enterprises face.

Oslo, 4 March 2013

Erik Nygaard 
Chair of the Board of Directors

Heidi Larssen

Trond Vernegg MaiLill Ibsen Helge Skudal

Lars Oust Knut Svensgård Tore Olaf Rimmereid 
President and CEO

Statement pursuant to §55 of Norway’s Securities Trading Act
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usikkerhetsmoment for framtiden vil være hvor stor andel 
av framtidig kraftproduksjon, i norden og på kontinentet, 
som vil komme fra fornybar energi og kjernekraft. Jo større 
denne andelen vil bli, jo mindre vil prisen bli påvirket av 
termiske kostnader. 

i etterkant av fjorårets svært kalde vintermåneder, lavt 
tilsig, høye kraftforbruk og kjernekraftproblemer er kraft-
magasinene i både norge og sverige kommet ned på et his-
torisk lavt nivå. Mye av den normale reservekapasiteten er 
dermed tatt i bruk, og risikoen for kraftmangel ved fortsatt 
kald og tørr værtype med sen vårsmelt er langt høyere enn 
normalt. Statnett beregner situasjonen p.t (uke 7) til å være 
i deres fagterminologi ”stram”.  Ved økende sannsynlighet 
for kraftmangel anvendes begrepene: anstrengt, svært 
anstrengt og rasjonering. Det er p.t fortsatt lite snø i 
høyfjellet, og terminprisen ut året 2011 ligger p.t (uke 7) i 
området 44.0 øre/kWh.  Gjennomsnittsprisen på Nord Pool 
Spot referert Oslo ble til sammenligning 43.5 øre/kWh i 
2010.

e-co har også lavere magasinfylling og lavere snømagasin 
enn det normale, slik at det er stor sannsynlighet for et 
betydelig lavere produksjonsvolum i 2011 enn det normale. 
til dette bildet hører markedets forventninger om relativt
høye priser, men samlet sett forventes dermed et lavere 
økonomisk resultat enn rekordresultatene de siste årene.          

styret er godt fornøyd med virksomheten og resultatet og 
retter en takk til alle ansatte for innsatsen i 2010.

oslo, 7. mars 2011 
    styret i e-co energi as

   erik nygaard   gro Balas 
         styreleder  nestleder

  trond Vernegg  Mai-Lill ibsen  Helge skudal 

  Johan Kleivi  Kåre Jan sørheim  tore olaf rimmereid
      administrerende direktør
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enerGy unITS

V  Volt  unit of measurement for voltage
A  Ampere  unit of measurement for  
  electrical current
W  Watts  unit of measurement for power
kW  kilowatt  1 000 W
kWh  kilowatt hours  1 000 kWh
MW megawatt  1 000 kW
MWh megawatt hour  1 000 kWh
GW gigawatt  1 000 MW
GWh gigawatt hour  1 000 MWh
TW terawatt  1 000 GW
TWh terawatt hour  1 000 GWh

a unIT SeT 
is a production unit for electrical energy. It includes turbines and 
generators alike. 

PoWer
is the energy or work performed per time unit. Power can be 
specified inter alia in Watts (W). 

BoTTleneCkS
arise when the transmission grid system does not have the capacity 
to transmit enough power. A bottleneck arises as a consequence of 
insufficient availability of production capacity related to limited 
import opportunities, or as a consequence of a production surplus  
in connection with limited export opportunities.  

mulTI-year reServoIr
is a reservoir in which filling and drawoff take place on a multiyear 
basis to even out annual fluctuations in inflow and runoff from 
adjacent catchment areas.

GeneraTor 
is a rotating engine that converts mechanical energy to electrical energy. 

yearly reServoIr
is a reservoir that has a filling and drawoff cycle of one year.

TranSmISSIon CaPaCITy 
is the output a power line is allowed to transfer.  

PrICe areaS

are created by Statnett when there is expected to be a shortage of 
energy in a geographically limited area or to deal with bottlenecks in 
the grid system. The number of price areas that Statnett uses in 
Norway varies, and having price areas often leads to price differences 
between the different price areas.

PumPed SToraGe PlanT
is a power plant that can either be used for power production or to 
pump water up to an intake pound for use at a later date. The filling 
period is the time the pumps in a pumped storage power plant run. 
In Norway, this is usually done in the winter, but in some countries 
the pumps can also be run at night. 

reGular PoWer
is used to regulate the power system so that there is a balance 
between consumption and production at all times. The players in the 
power market report prices to lower or raise production/consumption.

SeaSonal SToraGe
reservoir in which filling and drawdown take place on a seasonal 
basis, e.g. so that surplus water in the summer is retained for 
compensation when there is a shortfall in the winter. 

THermal PoWer ProduCTIon
is the production of electricity using gas and/or steam turbines. 
Production can be based on fossil fuels such as coal, oil or natural 
gas, but different types of biofuel, e.g. waste, are also used. 

TranSformer
is an apparatus that transforms alternating current of one voltage 
into alternating current of another voltage. 

avaIlaBIlITy
is the designation for the percentage of the total time a generator in 
a power plant is available to produce electricity. 

TurBIne
is a machine in which the water in a hydropower plant and the 
steam or combustion gases in a thermal energy plant are fed into 
one or more blades fixed to an axle so that it leads to rotation that 
converts the energy of the water, steam or gas into mechanical 
energy.
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